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Strategic Report

Introduction

This strategic report comprises: our objectives, strategy, vislon and business model. The Chatrman's Statemarit,
the Chief Executive Review and the Financlal Review, which also form the maln part of the strategic review,
Lontains. a review of the development and performarnice of the Group's business during the flnancial veer, and
the position of the Group's business at the end of that yaar, Additionally, a summary of the pringipsl risks and
wuneertainties facing the Husiness is set cut immediately afRer the Directors” report.

Objectivey
The Group's objective is to cveate sharehalder value from the development of services to the mobile app

community. The Group has a number of secondary objectives, including developing our staff to their highest
potential and being a good corporate citizen in our chosen countries of operations.

Our Strategy

To provide sciutions to the app economy to maximise the revenues of app developass and publishers.

Cur Vision

Create a market ieading unified B28 platform, focusing on app peblishing, monetisation, data lntelligence, usey
growth and: analytics.

Qur Model:

The Group's customers range from siall app developess ta large International organisations. Revenues are
generated from thrae principal sources:

e Software transactions - where Qus customers use one of our software platfoems such as Data
Inteiligence or our Media SDK ("Software Development Kit')

s Media transactions — where cur customeys spend 1o find new customers through one of our varioys
ad formats.

*  Services - where cistomers use one of our Value Added Sesvices or Consultancy such as App Store
Qptimisation

Highlights
Operationaf

Airnow Media was created through the integration of Airpush Inc
More than 1,500 unique pubtisher proparties were added to the Alenow Media supply network

* InQl 2021 we launched CP{X], a full stack omni channel perfarmance marketing solution specificalty
butly for mobife app advertisers

& InJuly 2021 we acquired MightySignal adding realtisne SDK and app scanning of aver 12 million apps

Financial hightights

Revenee grovth of mone than 250% to U3H 32.9 million
Profit after tax of LSE 4.7 million

Unadjusted EBITDA at USD 11.1 milfien,

Adjusted EBITDA at USD 2.5 mlllign:

Total assets USD 8S millkgn

More than USD 20 million equity raised since 1 January 2020

Clive Carver
Chairman / /‘, £ £ é: i

2 September 2021
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$.172 Report

The Board Is. mindful of the duties af directors under $.172 of the Companies Act 2006,

Directars act in a way they consider, in good faith, to be most likely to promote the success of the Group for the
bemefit of its members. In dafng so, they each have regard to a range of matters when making decisions for the
long-term sugeess of the Group.

The Group regarsds its key stakeholders as its shareholders; staff: customers; suppliess; and the lacal and natlonal
governments in the territories Tn which it operates. Our culture s that of treating everyone fairly and with
respect and this extends to all our principal stakeholders,

Through engaging formally and informaily with owr key stakeholders, we have been able to develop an
understanding of their needs, assess their perspectives and monitor their impact on our strategic ambition.

As part of the Board’s decision-making process, the Board consider the potentialimpact of decisions on rédevant
stakeholders whilst also having segard to a number of beoader factors, including the impact of the Group's
operations on the community and enviranment, responsible business practices and the likely consequences of
decisions on the leng term,

Our abjective is ta act in way that maets the long term needs of all gur main stakeholder groups. However, in so
doing we pay particular regard to the longer term needs of sharchalders,

We engage with investors on our financial performance, strategy and basiness moded and our Annuak General
Meeting provides an epportunity for lnvestors to meet and engage with members of the Board.

Following the cancellation of the Groug's AIM listing, shareholders have been updated as to the Group's
progress by a serles of newsletters. Once we retum to the public markets owr financial reporiing will become
more frequent and significant developments will raleased 1o the market as soagn as practical,

Stakeholders are also encouraged to fallow the Group’s progress via its website wvav.airnowplic.com.

Z 4 726 (;rziﬁf

Clive Carver
Chiairman
2 September 2021



Chairman’s Statement

i am pleased to present the 2020 Report & Accounts. Last year was dominated by the Covid-19 pandatnic which had a
significant impact on te economy and our datly lives. Despite these challengas, Alrnow made significant progress, both
financially and strategically. This progress. has centinued into 2021, which shows that the Group's strategy, and in
particular the intreduction of video advertising formats, is starting to pay off,

Results

Revenue grew by more than 250% to USD 32.9 million in 2020 from the USO 9.0 million repodted in the previous year. We
saw our first positive Adjusted EBITDA' of USD 2.5 million and in 2020 we raised in excess of USD 12 million for the
Company from new and existing shareholdess.

This is even more remarkable considering that, especiaily in the second quarter of 2020, many advertisers reduced or
haited their activity due to the uncertainty of the pandemic. During this pericd Airnow pushed fowwasd with the
integration of Airpush tic, the introduction of video advertising and on the devefopment of the wnified platform.

Action in 2020 to realise Synergles from the Airpush integration by streamiining and simplifying the organisational
structure, which incfuded rebranding the entire group as "Airnow,~ resulted in a significant reduction in costs, allowing s
to report our first positive Adjusted ERTTDA,

Board appointments

During 2020 and subsequently we have made new appointments to the board and senior management to peepare for
future growth.

*  James Eggleston, formerly the Growp’s CTO has jotned the board as Chief Operating Officer. fames has a strong.
backgraund in mobile technofogy and is leading the product and tech teams on our unlfied platform launch for
2022.

e Inman 8reaux whe was part of the original Airpush founding team: and was a non-executive director Bas joined
as Chief Revenue Officer. Inman is & veteran in the mobile ad tech Industry. He was SVIP at MoVoxx and was an
early member of the Rubloon project (Magnite].

¢ |n preparation fof a public listing, Linda Beal who is an experienced UK public company director and was a partner
at PwC for 16 years, joined the boaed as senior independent non-executive director and will upon completion oif
the planned return 10 the pyblic markets chair the awdit 2nd remuneration committees.

»  Aswell as remaining Chairman | have joined the executive team as CFO and will be responsibie for structusing a
new finance team $o drlve the business growth.

we Intend to continue to swrengthen the management team with further executive and non-executive Board
appointments in connection with the Group’s planned return to the public markets,

fieturn to the public markets

Only a few vears ago financial markets interest in Adfech businesses was fimited, This has now changed significantly,
accederated partly by the increased time spent by ¢consumers on their devices, with. some high-profite [POs in the US of
our peers at strong valuations such as Applovin {75x EV/EBITDAR) and tronSoursce (83x €V ERITDAY). This high levet of
investar appeal offers significant opportunities for Airnow.

We spent much of the peried under review working to return to the public markets via admisslon to the Standard List of
the London Stock Exchange. However, post peried we paused wark on the Landon listing to consider an appreach from
a leading financial institutlon to take the Group directly to Nasdaq.

1} Adjusted EBITDA 15 dafined oz operating profit or 1555 bedore depreciation, amarntisaiicn, Impairment, shase based pavments, and
transaction, réstrucluring and IPO ¢osts,

2y saurce: yohoo finance, last teebee-pManth EDITRN Lo Enterprisg Vadue as of 39% july 2021,

3} source: tronSource compary presensation May 2021, Lask Twelve-Mgnth EBITDA 21.3.2022 to Entemrise Value



The Board’s strang view is that the Nasdag route is the ane that will maximise shareholder returns, given that all our
major listed competitors trade at Nasdag / NYSE, and the very significantly highes valuations achieved by AdTech
tompanies on Nasdaq / NYSE compared to the London Stock Exchange.

while we have a clear recommendation as a Board, we believe it is appropriate that shareholders have the finsl say on
this matter. Accordingly, at the Annual General Meeting, to be heid in September 2021, we will submit a stand-along
resolution seeking shareholder confirmation of the board’s strategy to take the Nasdag route, with a pre-lPO fund ralse
later this year followed by a 2022 Nasdag IPD,

CQutlook

Qur focus is to cantinue to develap the Growp’s business and the single platform and ta ensure shareholders benefit from
the surge in AdTech company fortunes. We remain confident in delivering year-on year growth and we took forward to
fusther updating our shareholders as we continee to defiver on our strategy.

Clive Carver
Chainman
2 Septembar 2021



Chief Executive's Review

1. am proud to provide an assessment of the Group and the progress we have made towards achieving our vision.

When the company was fosnded, we had ong overriding goal, which was (o create a unified platform for app developers
and publishers worldwide, with services and solutions added thrgugh partmerships, acquisitions or intéeral development,

Alrpush integration

We started 2020 focused on thae integration of the appScatter and Airpush business, which in mid-December 2019 had
merged to fora Alrnow. Thanks to the phenomeral efforts. from our teams, the integration was successfully completed
despite the ongolng Covid-19 pandemic crisis, and significant costs savings made.

One of the major benefits of this transaction was the base techreology, which allawed us to add app monetisation to ouf
iist of praducts. This was @ mafor boost resuiting in Airnow having its gwn Demand Side Platform (DSP) and creating our
own exchange which allowed aot only third-party supply but also our own direct Inventory, Thes: were key steps in the
devetapment of the unified platform, which will see its formal 1aunch in 2022,

At the beginning of the year the new group had 145 employees and consultants located across LS, Indla, China and Europe.
As part of the integration, we dramatically reduged the head count and closed various offices. We now have 67 staff, of
whom 35 are amployees and 31 are contractors, with 3B in sales, 19 in tech {of which. 21 are focused on R&ED) and 15 staff
in admin and senior management.

We closed the Berlin offlce, which we inherited fram our acquisition of Priosi Data, This business is now fully integrated
Into the group as Alcnow Data operating out of the UK. We also consolidated our Asia Pacific operations in Hong Kong,
which ailoewed us to close ouwr Shanghai office. We now hiave operations in the US, UK, China and the UAE,

All non-performing operations or companies net part of the Group's strategy from the Alcpush acquisition, were closed),
dissalved or put into administration, The cost savings which began to show through in 2020 have continued into the
current financlal year.

During 2020 we also signed agreements to recover 6,401,540 shares issued in connection with the Alspush Merger in
Decernber 2019. These shares. wiil be held for the benefit of the Group.

Results

While COVID-19 has brought operational challenges warldwide we have been relatively unaffected due to an existing
work from home polity, This was not the case with a number of our suppliers and customers. wiich were more severely
Impacted and which fed through indirectly to our pwn performance.

New mobile device manufacturing and distribution slowed down effecting our ability (o Install apgs ot factory level, At
the same time india banned various apps Inctuding TikTok amongst others, which meant some great campaigns we had
running or planned were cantelied. However, the negative impact was shoct lived and we have subsequently entered into
new agreements with most of the affected suppliers. In the case of TiKTok, we wese even able to [ntrease our sope,
apening up new territories sueh as South Africa and Peru.

In the second half of 2020 and the first half of 2023 many new partnerships wege formed and exciting new clients joining
atross the group. Cybersecurity began new partnerships including with Security Score Card, Palo Alto Networks, Rebasoft
and recently Snyk who have ever 2.2 million developers, Mew customers signing up for our data Intelligenca service indude
Uber Eats, Reuters, Babbed, Mastercard, Baseh and many more. New publishers, agencles and partners are adoptirig our
media offering and we are proud to be warking with great companies like TikTok, USA Today and Disney,

Video ativertising

tn recognition of the video advertising growth, we started Airncw video in July 2020. The globat Videa Advertising market
has grown dramatically and we had many requests from customers. to su pport video formags.

" We entered the market by acqulring certain video advertising contracts fram Avantls Team Technologles (Avantis) under
2 deal which requived us to pay an initial consideration followed by a series of deferred payments based on the Income
derived fromt the acquired contracis.



tnitlal revenues were impeessive, and ous staf gained signlficant experience in video adwertising. Howauer, the acguired
contragis were deskiop £ wibsbte onty and did not covar the fastes growing mabile device / app-based videa sidvertising
segaant of the market sequired to comploment our supply base.

AL the end of Q1 2021 we agreed with Avantis Lo terminate the underlying Acquisition Agreement, with the poteatial
saving of lurther deferred payments aof up 10 $15 million, We continue 1o wods with Avaniis 35 & suppdier to the dasktop
£ website portlon of the market but have 2irecdy estabfishied ous own business in the more lucrative mohe / sapp-based
segiment.

Acguisiticns

In buby 2021, we announced the completion of nur acquisnion of Mighty 3igial, 2 US App Data cempany which adds toous’
Alenow Data offering. Togather they will strategically support our media sales over the «oming year.

We are also 50w nearing complotion of an acquishian of an established app ganses publisher, which wilf ghve us our awn
gaming titles with cur SOX embedded in these new apps. This should nog only increase medla revenues but aliew us t
pubilish gamos on behalf of others, Ingreasing aur own direct sugply masgins,

Cuifrent trading

Bur AdTech business is seasonal building frem Q1 throughout the year tr a peak i the 4™ Guarter. We sre curréntly
ahead of management expestations and internal fosecosts produced st year.

Jpified plstform

{ur comprehgnsive scdution Incorparates medie, daty, securlty and now gaming, The offerlng s split into 3 sections,
Publishing, Moisetlsatlon and inTelligence. 'Ne partner with app owners; stquire app titles and this year we will hegin o
deuctop aur awn arlginal (ootent. The more apps we bring Into our wnidied plattarm the stranges sur business beeonyes
and the Mare revenues we tan gerneats.

Dur fogus now |5 1o combine aur services into a single plstfanm t0 allow customars to maxiinise the advertising spend ankl
10 improve tive quality of our advertising inventory with our awn in-ficuse supply. We typlcatly target small app developers
te Internatioral oiganisatinns.

Summacy

2020 was & year that saw a fuld Integration of prior acquisttiins and 4 jumg in rewenue grngth. That psogress has continued
to diate in 2021 and wa have the momsentum jor it to further cantinize In the ouaving years.

The main operational goals far the Group in 2022 are first the Taunch of qui uaified platfosny, which will lising a1l preduirs
and serviees togethes for aur clients in a single place, and second 10 atceierate growth of aur secantly Bsunched Alrnow
Gamiig wnit, wshich fotuses on what we hefleva highly attractive casual enarker,

A Airnovw we have an exeeliant team who will continue aggressively driving the campany foswadd ia Its techaslopy and
organic grawlh and fusther acquisitions,

1 woudd like 10 personally thank aur team for thelr ard work and ses¥ience over the [ast year. The success we hadin 2020
of significantly growing the revenue base and aghiedng oue fiest pasitive EBITDA and Adpusted ERUTOA, while Integrating
acquaired businesses and beeaking suceessfully into new segments such as vireo, shows the exoeptional talent we Bave at
Akmnaw. Cemblned with nur 1edhnolegy platierm this will ensure aur comtinusd Bistuse growth, no matter whare the
indusiry is going,

Phillp Marcefiz
Chigf Ezecutive Officar
2 Septembear 2921
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Financial Review
Basls of preparation

There are a number of one-off events which has complicated the actounting for the vear under review.
Reverse aecounting in 2019

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 we were reguired to use the IFRS Reverse Accounting whereby despite
the Airpush Inc business only being acquired by Airnow PLC ("Airnow] (formerly appScatter Group Plel for the final two
weeks of 2019 the published consolidated results for the Group were prepared an the basis that Airpush Inc was owned
for the full vear and the appScatter businesses for just the fingl two weeks of the year.

under IFRS rules we are required to show the published 2089 as the comparatives to the 2020 aumbers. However, using
them as the Basis Lo assess performance in 2020 vwould serve no purpose.

Group rétionallsation

In November 2020, pans aof the Airpush (ac graup, acquired tn December 2019, were placed Into Administation, resuliing
in certain business activities being designated as discontinued,

Video contracts ocquired in 2020 and relingiished with effect fram the end of March 2021

As set out more fully in the CEOQ Review with effect from. 1 October 2020 the Group acrulred certain video related
contracts from Avantis, which at the balante sheet date were expected to continue to be ownad for the foresegable
future. Accordingly, the income fram the contracts has been included together with the associated direct costs with the
resultant net profit belng included as a reduction in the committed amounis due to Be paid to Avantis at the year end.

The ¢apital costs associated with the amounts paid to Avantis are inclydad within the Administrative Expenses heading.
Profit and loss

Revenue

Revenue for the year wag USD 32.9 million. The bulk was geneeated from the Media division,

Cost of sales and Gross Profit

The Cost of $ales were USD 21.5 million and were again predominantly the costs of the Media divisiom, producing a Gross.
Profit of USD £1.4 million.

included in Administrative Expenses of USD 17.1 million as set qut in Noie 6 is @n amount of USD 5.8 million in respect of
amoytisarion. The balance of USD 11.3 million reflects the much greater levels of opevationali and corporate activity

Balance sheet
Fixed ossets

At 31 December 2020 Intangible assets were USD S6.4 milllon comprising principally USD 27.8 million relating to the
Group's technology and USD 28.5 million in respect of Graup customer relationships.

Current Assets

At 31 December 2020 trade and other receivables were USD 27.1 million, compgising principally the amounts due to
Airnow Video, Cash was USD 1.6 miliion.

Lurrent flabifitles

Trade and other payables at 31 December 2020 were USD 48.4 miilion, including approsimately USD 13.8 million in respect
of trade payables and USD 23.6 million in respect of ather payables.

10



Non-current Nabilittes

Non-eurrent liabilitles at approximately USD $.2 million were principally the balances due after more than 12 months on
commercial boans,

Cashflow
Duving 2020 USD 12.7 million cash was spent on the business.,

To fund this Y50 13.8 million was raised from financing activities induding USD 12.7 millien raised by the Issue of new
equity.

/2. M:_ é“f‘z <./

Clive Carver

2 September 2021
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Directors

Philip Marcello foged 57,

founder and Chief Executive Officer

Phifip Is the faunder and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He Is an experienced programmer who began his coding
career in the mid-1980s. In 1997 he sat up his first campany, which became RMR. Plc. inibally @ web development
company, RMR specialised in web conferencing. In 2000, RMR was admitted to trading on AIM with a £64 million
valuation.

Clive Carver FCA, FCT (aged 60),

Executive Chairmen and Chief Financlal Officer

Clive Is a qualified chartered accountant and waorked with Coopers & Lybrand, Klelnwort Bensosn gnd Price Waterhause
Corporate Finance before becaming haad of Corporate finance at Seymour Pierce, Willams de Broe and: finnCap
sucoessively, He is an experienced: public company chaifman and [s currentty Non-Executive Chairman of Caspian Sunrige
PLC and a Non-Executive Director of Aukett Swanke Plc, both of which are admitted to trading on AIM. He joined Afrmow
in 2016 as 3 Non-Executive Director becoming Non-Executive Chalrman in 2017, tn 2020 he became Executive Chairmian
and CFO.

Jomes Eggleston {aged 40),

Chief Operating Officer
Jaines jolned the appScattes Group in 2016, becoming CTO that year, He has been an integral part of the transactions

team assessing and integrating the Group's acquisitions. He has a strong technology background spacifically around
mobile and complex cloud based systems. In May 2020 he became Chief Operating Officer and was appointed to the
board an 13 April 2021,

thmaon Breeux (aged 36),

Executive Diractor

Inman is the Chief Executive Officer of Airnow Monetisation and was formerly a SVP at MeVoxxing., one of the first mobile
advertising rnetworks (which was acquired by Motricity in 2010). Prior to this Inman was an early member of The Rubicon
Project, one of the world’s largest independent advertising exchanges. Inman was a member of the founding team at
Airpush In¢., becoming its Chief Operating Officer in 2013 and President in 2016,

Linda Beal FCA (aged 60),

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Linda joined the Board as senlor independent non-executive director on 13 Apeil 2021, She is UK based and an experienced
Non-Executive Director and an experienced chair of both audit and remuneration committees. She spent 30 years at PwC
whare for 16 years she was a partner in the tax department. She was also 3 partner for 2 years at Grant Thornion, She s
currently non-gxecutive chair of i3 Energy plc and a non=executive director of Kropi PLC & Orca Energy Group (nc.

Paul Wy faged 50),

Non-Executive Director

Paul is the founder and CEO of General Mobile Corparation and has direct experience with operators and devite tmakers
including Nokia, Sany-Eriesson, HTC and MediaTek portals. Paul was previously a senior business development manages

at MediaTek Technology inc and Foxconn Group, as well as having served as CEO of PocketNet Wireless Technalogy until
2008,

12



Directors’ Report

The Directors present theic annual sepost on the affairs of the Group and pasent Compaiy, together with the Group
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020,

Directors
The Ditectors who unless otherwise stated sefved during the: peviod were:

Philip Marcella, Chief Executive Cfficer

Clive Carver, Noa-Executive Chairman {oppolnted Executive Chairman & CRO 3 July 2020)

Jason Hilb, Executive Director {rasigned 6 March 2020)

Colin Hutchinson, Chief Financial Officer {resigned 24 Seplember 2020)

Andy Bushby, Non-Executive Director {resigned 12 tdarch 2020)

Stvefan Keiss, Chief Operating Officer foppeinted 17 December 2019) / resigned 20 duly 2020}

inman Brcaux, Nan-Executive director {non-exec from 17 December 2019 & executive 1 September 2020)
Paul Wiy, Non-Exacutive Director {appainted 17 December 2019}

james Egglestan, Chief Cperating Officer {appainted 12 April 2022)

Linda Beal, Senior independent Non- {appoirted 13 Apnl 2022)

Executive Dirgetor

Business review and future developments
The business review and future developments are dealt with in the Strategic Report , the Chairman's Statament and the
Chief Executive Officer's Review.

The Group made a profit after taxation of USD 4.9 millien. The Dlrectors do mot recommend the payment of a dividend.

Events after the reporting pericd
[Events after the ceporting period are set out in: Note 30 to the financial statements,

Audlitor
The Directors will place a resolution before a General Meeting to re-appoint PKF Littlejohn a5 auditor for the coming vear.

Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the £xecutive Directors pafd during the year was that was set by the Remuneration Committee while
the Company’s shares were traded om AlM,

Non-Executive Directors did not receive any remurneration for thelr services as Non-Executive Divectors during the period
under review.

Remuneration paid to Directors for the year ended 31 December 2020 15 set out in Note 7 and 29 to the consolldated
financial statements.

13



Committees of the Board

Upon cancellation of the Cormpany’s MM listing the cperations of the various Board committees wara suspended with all
decisions taken. by the Board as a whole. ‘Upon the Company’s return to the pubile markets the vorious committees of
the Board will be reinstated.

intermal contrals
The Board acknowledges responsibility for maintaining appropriate internal control systems and procedures to safeguard
the sharehoiders’ investments and the assets, emplovees and the business of the Group.

Internal audit
The Board does tiot consider it appropriate for the current size of the Group to astablish an Internal audit function.
However, this will be kept under review.

Bribery and corcuption

The Bribery Act 2010 came into force on 1 fuly 2011. The Company is committed 1o acting ethically, falrly and with integrity
in 2(l its endeavours and compliance with legislation is monitored. Canslderation of the Bribery Act is & standiag item at
Company Board meetings.

Control procadures
The Board, working with external professional advisers is implementing pracediiras to easuse comgpliance with accounting
standards and effective reporting.

Envirenmental responsibllity

The Group is aware of the potential Impact that its subsidiary companies may have on the enwvironment. The Group
ensures 1hat it and its subsidiaries at a minimum comply with the tocal reguiatory requirements and the vevised Equator
Principles, the induestry standard for enwironmental and social risk:

Employment policies

The Group Is committed to promoting policles which ensure that high calibre employees are attracted, retained and
motivated, to ensure the ongoing success for the business, Emplovees and consultants and those who seek to work within
the Group are treated equally regardless of sex, marital status, (reed, colour, race or ethnic origin.

14



Health and safety
The Group's aim is to achieve and maintain a high standard of warkplace safety. In grder te achieve this objective, the
Group provides training and sugpert to employees and sets demanding standards for workplace safety.

Going concern

In common with many other fast growing techrology companies the Group has relied in recent years an raising equity
and debt capital to bridge the gap between receipts and expenditures. To continue on the current growth plan further
equity and debt capikal will be requised.

fn the year ended 31 Decamber 2020 the Group made 2 profit after tax of USD 4.9 million for the year and had a net cash
outflow fram operations of USD 6.4 millian.

Between L fanwary 2020 and the date of this report the Company raised approximately USD 20 amillion By the issue of
new shares.

The Board has considered detailed cashflows covering the 12 month pertod to August 2022, together with a serigs of
sensitivities, including @ 105 reduction in sales and the [0ss of the largest customer,

We hawve not seen any Covid-19 related materizl adverse impact an the Group's business. Similarly, the Directors do not
enpect there will be any Brexit related material advarse impact. Accordingly, the Directors do not delieve the impact of
Covid-19 cr Brexit affects their assessment of going concern.

On the basis that the Board expects. to be able to raise any additional capital required the Beard has concluded that the
adoption of the going concern coavention in the presentation of these financial statements remains appropriate and
accordingly the Flnandal Statements of the Group are prepared on a going concern basis as detailed In Note 2 to the
financial statements. However, as there can be no certainty that additional capital will be ralsed, there exists 2 material
financial uncertainty which may cast doubt an the use of the going concenn convention, The conselidated statermants do
not include any adfustments that would be necessary If the golng cancern hasls wese inappropriate.

Disclosure to auditors

So far as each persen who was a director at the date of appreving this report is aware, there is no rebevant audit
information of which the Group's auditer is unaware. Additionally, the directors individually have taken all the aecessary
steps that they ought to have taken as directors in asdier to make themselves aware of all relevant audit information and
to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information,

/4 te Cz Trszf

Cllve Carver
Executive Chairman
2 September 2021
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Principal risks relating to the business and its industry

Include but ore not limited to;
Security and privacy breaches

The Group’s security and testing measures may not prevent security breaches that could harm the Group's or its ésers’
businesses. For example, a number of the Group's users provide the Group with credlt card and other confidential
information and authorise the Group to blll their credit card accaunts directly for the Group's products ani services.

Typically, the Group relies on encryption and authentication technology licensed from thivd parties to enhance the
transmisslon and storage security of confidential information.

Competition risk

These can be no guarantee that the Group's competitars have nat atready developed and/o¢ will not develop products
and services which are competitive to those suppliod by the Group and there can be Ao assurances that the availability
of any such products and services will not sdversely affect future demand fos the Group’s own praducts and services,

Dependence on key executives and personnel

The future performance of the Group will to a significant extent be dependent on its abillty to retaln the services and
personal connections or contacts of key executives and to attract, recruit, motivate and retain other suitably skilled,
qualified and industry expeslenced personnel.

Requirement for continugd Investment

The Group needs to continue ta invest fesources in research and development in ordes to maintain and enhance the
Group's existing products and senvices and introduce neawv high-quality products and serviges to its platfosim.

A downturn i the global economy

If econemic conditions. were to deteriorate, the Group's existing and potential customers may elect to decrease their
marketing expenditure. Historically, economic downturns have resultedin averall reductions in marketing and advertising

budgets.
Currency exchange rates risk

The Group’s functional currency is the US Dallar and its contracts are sometimes denominated In local currencies. A
significant portion of the Group's operating, marketing and administrative expenses ar¢ paid in other cusrencies,
Including Sterling and: Euro. Hence, the Group is exposed to fluciuations in exchange rates, in particuiar, betwaen the US
Dollar and the other currencies..

Operational ssues

The Group’s revenues will be dependent on the operations of the Platforms. Operationd clsks include equipment failure,
failure to comply with applicable regulations and stamdards and disruptions in the operations of suppliers engaged in the
maintenance and development of the Piatforms.

Tax refated risks

There may, fn certain tircumstances, be withhalding o¢ other taxes on the profits or other veturns derived from the
Group’s investments which may change from time to time and which could have a material and adverse Impact on the
Group's performance.

Reliance on third party data avallability

Certain aspects of the Platforms rely on the continued gvallability of extensive data from app stores, data partners, users
and devices regarding such matters as the level of sates of apps, ranking and usage of apps which data is then processed
or re-presented by the software. Access to such data is regulated by the terms and conditions of each app store or partner
and by the agreements between ysers and the app stores,
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Repert and the financial statements In accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each firancial year. Under that law the directors
have prepared the group and parant company financial statements In accardance with intenational Flnanclal Reporting
Standards and International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

Under comparny law the directars must not approve the finandal statements vnloss they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the growp and Cempany and of the profit and loss of the Group for that period.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

. Setect sultable actounting poticies and then apply them coasistently;
N Make judgements and accaunting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
. State whether appiicable accounting standards have been fallowed, subject to any material departures disclpsed

and explalned in the financial statements: and

. Prepare the financlal statements an the golng concern basis umless it Is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will cantinue in bersimess.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficlent to show and awplain the
Company's transactions and disclose with. seasonable accuracy at any time the finandial position of the Group and
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply witty the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other lrregularities.

The directors’ responsibility also extends to the an-gaing integrity of the financial statements contained therein.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AIRNOW PLC - Group

Discfaimer of oplniom

We were engaged to audit the group financial statements of Airmow Plc (the ‘group'} for the year ended 31 December
2020 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss Including Statement of Other Comprehensive
Income, the Cansolldated Statement of Finandal Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the
Consolidated Statemnent of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, Including significant accounting policles.
The financial reporting framework that has been applled in their prepacation is applicable law and international
accounting standards in conforatity with the requirements of the Companies Act 20086,

We dio not express an opinion on the accompanying finandal statsments of the graep. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the basks for disclaimer of opinign section of cur report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinlon amn these financial statements.

Basis for disclaimer of apinion

The group comprises of & number of subsidiaries (see note 14). Al of the group companents (10 out of 11) were audited
by PKF Littlejohn LLP except far Airnow Video Limited, which was audited by a componeat auditar. This wholly owned
subsidiary of the grawp is ¢onsideced to be a financially significant companent bacause its assets, liabllities, revenue and
¢osts represented 2 significant portion of the group at the year end, As at 31 December 2020, Alrnow Vides Limited held
the assets scquired from Avantis Team Technologies Limited ("Avantis®). Post year-end these were de-recognised due 1o
2 loss of control.

As a result, whilst the group were able to provide financial inforsnation In respect of cartaln Avantis batances, resteictions
were imposed on access to information by Avantis in support af certain balanges and transactions attelbuted to Aifngw
Video Limited. We evaluated the work undertaken by the component auditors and petformed our own additionat
procedures in respect of this finandially sigalficant componant for the purpases of the group audit. However, as a result
of information not being provided by parties external 1o the Group, we were unable to abtain sufficient and approprlate
audlt evidence in respect af the batances and: classes of transactions described below relating to Airnow Video Limited
that are reflected in the group financial statements as at 31 Becember 2020,

We wiere enable to obtain sifficlent and appropriate audlt evidence of USD 19 miltion of reverue against a total group
revenue of LSD 33 million, USD 20 million of cost of sales against a total O3 af USD 20 million, other expenses of USD
2.6 miflion against total other expenises of YSD 15 miflion, WSD 13 millian of assets against total assets of USO 85 million
and liabilitles of USD 11 miilion against total fiabilities of USD 57 mitlion,

As a result, due to restrictions imposed on ws by boadies outside of the Group, we werg unable to determing whether any
adjustments might have been found necessary in respect of the assets, liabilities, revenue and costs relating to Airnow
Video Limited, and the subsequent impact on the group financial statements.

Other information

The other information comprises the information induded in tha strategle and directors' reports, other than the flnancial
statements and our auditor’s ceport thereon, The directors are responsibie for the other infarmation contained within
the strategic and directars’ reports. Qur oplnion on the growp flnancial statements does not cover the other infarmatien
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated In our report, we do not express any form of assurance conelisicn
thereon. Cur responsibility ks to read the gther Infarmation and, in doing so, consider whether the other informatian is
materially Inconsistent with the financial statements or aur knowledge obtalned in the course of the audit, or othervrise
appears to be materlally misstated, (f we identify such material inconsistencies or spparent material misstatements, we
are required to determine whether this gives rise t0 3 material misstatement in the financial statements thamselves. if,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that theve i5 8 material migstatement of this ather information, we
are required to report that fact,

As described in the Basis for disclaimer of gpinian on other matters prescribed by the Campanies Act 2006 section of okt
report, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence concerning Airmow Video Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2029, we have contluded that where other information refers 10 Atraow Video Limited, it may be
materially misstated for the same reason.
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Opinien on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis for dischaimer of oplnlon section of our repart, we have
been unable to ferm an opinion, whather based on the work undertaked in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the strateglc report and the directors’ report for the finandlal year for which the group
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e the strategi¢ report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicadble legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Notwithstonding our disclaimer of an opinisa on the group flnancial statements, In the Yight of the knowledge and
vnderstanding of the group and its environment obtalnedin the course of the audit performed subjéct to the pervasive
{imitation described above, we have not identifled material ausstatements irt the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Afising fram the limitation of our work referred to above, we have not abstained all the information and explanations that
we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.

We have nothing to ceport in raspect of the follgwing matters I celation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us
to report to you if, in our oplnion:

* certain disclosures. of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not mace.
Responsibilities of directors

s explained siore fully in the directors’ report, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the group financial
statements and for belng satisfied that they give a tree and fair view, and for such internal contzal as the directors
determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of finandial siatements that are free from rmaterial misstatement,
whether due to fraisd or error.

In preparing the group flaanciat stataments, the diractoss are responsible for assessing the group's ability to continue as
a golng concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going concern and wsing the going Concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either Intend to liguidate the group of to cease operations, or hive no realistic 3lternative
but todo so.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

treegularities, incleding fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting leregularities, Including fraud s detaited befow:

» We obtained an understanding of the group andithe sector in which It operates to identify [aws and regulations
that could reasonably be expected fo have a direct effect on the financlal statements. We obiained our
understanding In this regord through discussions with management, industry research and experience of the
sector.

»  We determmined the principal laws and regulations relevant to the groep In this regard to be those arlsing from:
o Companies Act 2096

o Ant-Money Laundering Legislation
a The Bribery Act 2010

o Employment Law

o GDPR

s Wa deslgned our audit procedures to ensure the audit team considered whether there were any indicatlons of
nen-corigliance by the group with those laws and regulations, These pracedures induded, but were not limited
te:
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o Making enquiries of management

o Review of minutes

o Review of legal / regulatary coryespondence
o Review of accounting legers.

¢ As in all of our audits, we addressed the risk of fraud arising from managament override of controls by
performing audit procedures which incleded, but weve not limited to: the testing of joumals; reviewing
accounting estimates for evidente of bias; and evatuating the business rationale of any significant transactions
ghat are unusual or outside the normal course of business; and reviewing transactions theough bank statements
to identify patentiaily large and unusual transactions that do not appear to be in line with our understanding of
the bassiness oparations.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, thare I a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including those
leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This risk increases the
mare that compllance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions reflacted In the financial
statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance. The risk is alse greater regarding
irregulprities accureing due to fravd rather than error, as fraud invoives intentiondl concealment. forgery, collusion,
omission or misrepresentation.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur responsibility i to conduct an audit of the group’s financigl statements In accordance with ISAs (UK} and taissue an
auditor's report.

However, because of the matters described In the basis for disclaimar of epinlon section of our repory, we were not able
to ebtain sufficiant approprlate audit evidence to provide 2 basis for an audit opinion on these financlal statements,

We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financlal statements in UK, incleding the FRC's Ethical Standard, and vae have fulfilled our other ethical responsibllities in
accordance with these requirements.

Other matter

We have repocted separately on the parent company financial statements of Airnow Plg for the year ended 3% December
2020. The opinian in that repost is unmodified with a material uncertainty related to gaing concerm,

Use of aur repart

This reportis made solely to the company’s membess, as a-body, in acoordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006, Qur audit work has been endetrtaken so that we might state te the company’s members those matters we are
required to state to theim In an auditor's report and for ao other purpase. To the fullest extent pesrmitted by law, we do
not accept of assume responsibility to anyone, other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, far this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Peb Litlayoha OP

Joseph Archer {Senler Statutory Auditor) 15 Westferry Clreus
For and on behalf of PKF Littlejohn LLP Canary Wharf
Statutory Auditor lLondon E14 4HD
2 September 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AIRNOW PLC - Parent Company

Oplnlon

We have audited the financial statements of Aicnow Ple (the ‘parent company’) for the year ended 31 Dacember 2020
which comprise the Company Statement of Financial Pasition, the Company Statermant of Changes in Equity and notes
to the financial staterments, Including significant acsounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in thelr preparation s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Fromework {United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the parent company financial statements:
e glve a true and fair view of the state of the parent company’s #ffairs as at 31 December 2020;
s have been properly prepared in accordarice with Unlted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Fractice; and
+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standanrds on Auditing (UK) {1SAs {UK)) aad applicable law.

Our responsibilities under those standards are furiher described in the Auditos’s responsibilities for the audit of the
finandal statements sectlon of our report, We are independent of the parent company [n accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard,
and wee have fulfilled our other ethical responstbilities in actordance with these requicements. We belleve that the audit
evidence we have chtained is sufficlent and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinios.

Material yncertalinty related to going concern

We draw attention to Note 2 Galng Concern 1o the financial statements, which indicates that the succass of the
company refies on the ability of raising additional capitai raquived to continue on the current growth plan.

Az stated in Note 2, there can be no oertalnty that additional capital will be raised, there exists 8 material uncertainty
which may ¢ast doubt on the cormpany's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion Is. not modified la respect of
this matter.

In auditing the finandal statements, we have concluded that the director's yse of the going concesn basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements Is appropriate.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to geing cancerm are described in the relevant
sectlons of this report.

‘Other information

The other infermation comprises the infarrmation included in the annwal report, other than the finanaal statements and
out auditor’s report thereon. The directars are responsible for the other information contained within the annual
report. Our opinien on the parent eompany financial statements does not cover the other information and, excapt to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in cur Feport, we do not expiess any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our
responsibility i5 to read the other information: and, In dolng so, consider whether the other Infarmation is materially
inconsistent with the financlal statements ot our knowledge obtalned in the ¢ouirse of the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materigily sisstated. If we identify such matemal inconsistencies or pparant materdal misstatements, we are
regiired to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatament in the financlal staterments themselves, i,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a materiat misstatement of this other information, we
are reguired to report that fact.

Wwe have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinlons on cther matters preseribed by the Companles Act 2006
in our opinion, hased on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

s theinformation given in the strategic report and the directars” report for the financial year for which the
parent company flnancial statements ave prepared is consistent with the parent company fingncial statements;
and :

e tha strateghc report and the ditectors’ ceport have been prepared in accordance with applicable tegal
requirements,

Matters on whith we are requined to report by axception

in the fight of the knowiedge and understanding of the pagent company 2nd its environment obtained in the course of
the sudit, we have not identified material misstatements in: the strategic report o the directors’ repodrt.

We have nothing to report in respeet of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us
o report to you if, in cur opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequiate for our audit
have not been recelved from: branches not visited by us; of

« the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; of
e tertain disclosures of directors' remuneration spetified by law are not made; os
e we have ot received all the Information and explanations we require for our audit

Responsibilities af diractors

As explained more fully in the directoss’ responsibilities statement, the divectors are respensible for the preparation of
the parent company flnancial statements and for belng satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control 35 the directors determine is necessary to endble the preparation of finaricial statements that are free
from materlal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

[n preparing the parent company financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concenn, disdosing, as applicable, matters related w golng concern and using the golag
coneern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquicdate the parent company or (o cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do o,

Auditor's respansibilities for the audit of the finandal statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 35 a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due (@ fraud ar etvor, and to issue an auditor's report that includes gur apinien.
Reasonable assufance is a high level of assurance but is not 3 guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
1SAs {UX) will always detect a materlal misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraid ar erroe and are
considered material If, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to (nfluence the eoonomic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, inciuding fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibilities, autlined above, to detect material misstatements In respect of ircegularities, including fraud,
The extent to which aur procedures are capabtde of detecting ieregularities, including fraud is detalled belows:

¢ We obtained an understanding of the parent company and the sector in which it operates to ldentify laws and
regulations that could reasonably be expected ta have 3 direct effect on the financial statements, We obtained
our understanding In this regard through discusslons with management, industry cesearch and ewperience of
the sector.

*  We determined the principal |3ws and: regulations relevant to the parent company in this regard to be those
arising from:

o Companles Act 2006

o Anti-Money Laundering Legistation
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o The Bribery Att 2010
o Employment Law
o GDPR

»  Wedesigned our audit procedures to ensure the audit team considered whather there were any indications of
non-compliance by the parent comparvy with thase [aws and regulations. These procedures included, but were
not limited to:

o Making enquiries of management

© Review of minutes

o Review of legal / regulatory codrespondence
o Reslew of accounting legers

+  Asinall of our audits, we addressed the risk of fraud arising from managemanit override of controls by
performing audit procadures which includid, But were not limited ta: the testing of journals; reviewing
accounting estimates for evidence of bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions
that are unusual ar outside the normal course of business: and raviewing transactions through bank
statements to identify potentially large and unusual trassactions that do not appear to bein ling with our
understanding of the business operaticns.

Because of the inhecent limitations of an audlt, there is a risk that we will not detect aldirregularities, induding those
leading 1o @ material misstatement in. the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This fisk increases
the mare that compliance with a 3w or regulation is regvoved fram the events and transactions reflected im the
finantig! statements; as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance. The risk is also greates
vegarding irmegularities occusring dua to fraud rather that error, as fraud involves [ntentional concealment, torgery,
collusion, omission or migrepresentation.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financlal statements is located on the Flnandlal
Reporting Coundil’s website at: wwnw fre.or srgsponsibilities. This descrlption forms part of our auditor’s
report.

Othar matter

We have raported separately on the group financlal statements of Airnow Plc for the year ended 31 Decamber 2020,
The apinion in that report is a disclalmer of apinion,

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the ¢company's members, as. a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companles Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state ta the company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitied by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility $0 anyone, other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, ar for the opinions we have fermed.

P F Lw%m P

Joseph Archer (Senior Statutory Auditor) 15 Wastferry Clvous
For and on behalf of PKF Littiejohn LLP Canary Wharf
Statutory Auditar Lordon E14 4HD

2 September 2021
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 Decamber 2020

2020 2019
Note $'000 $'000
Revenve 5 32,897 9,050
Cost of sales 6 {21,508} (6.694)
Gross profit 11,389 2,396
Adaiinistrativa expenses 6 (17,089) (6.718)
impalrment reversal 6 10,952 -
Operating profit / floss} S 5,252 (8,322}
Finance expense 8 {855) (677)
Profit / {loss) before tax 4,397 (4,999)
Tax credit 9 w8 273
Profit / (loss) for the year from continuing operations 4,666 (4,726}
profit / (loss) fos the year from discontinued operations 10 - (7,167}
_Net profit / (loss) after tax attributable to owngrs of the parent 4,666 {11,893}
Statemnent of other comprehenskve Encome
2020 2019
Note $'000 57000
profit / (loss) for the vear 4,656 {11,893}
Items thot will 6r moy be recycled ta profit or Ioss:
Exchange gains arising on translation of foreign aperations 99% 202
Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 991 202
Total eomprehensive proflt / {loss) 5,657 {11,691)
Earnlngs per share
Basic and diluted (Cents) — Continuing operatiens 11 63 {8.2)
Basic (Cents) — Discontinued operatlons - {12.4)
6.3 {20.5)
Adjusted EBITDA — continuing operations
Operating profit / {loss} 5.252 {4,322)
Add back depreciation and amaoctisation 5,847 1,669
EBITDA * 11,099 {3.262)
$hare options {credit) / charge {42 30
Listing costs 1,534 90
Acquisition costs Pl 922
Impairment reversal {10,952) -
Restructucing costs . 73 10
_Adjusted EBITDA 2,506 {2,210}

*Management use Adjusted EBITDA as a non-GAAP measure to better assess the ynderbying pesformance of the
Group. This reasure allows management and irvestors to compare operational performance without the potentially

distorting effects of one-off items, non-operational items and the charge for non-cask share based payments.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as operating peafit ar foss befare depseciation, amortisation, impairment, share based

payments, and transaction, Festructuring and listing costs.

The accompanylag notes 1o the accounts on pages 31 to 82 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2020

Tota) capital and reserves atttibutable to shareholders

2020 2019
Nate $'000 $'600
Assets
NoR-current assots
Property, plant and equipment 12 13 3
Intangible assets 13 56,355 41,402
Investment in assoclates. 15 - -
56,268 41,405
Currant assets - -
Trade and other receivables 16 47,138 2,441
Cash and cash equivalents 17 1,549 418
28,687 2,859
Total assets 85,055 44,264
Liabilitles:
Current liabllities
Trade and other payables 18 46,054 19,457
Loans and borrowsings 20 2371 1,486
48,425 20,943
Nan-current liabilitios
Other payables 18 963 -
Loans and borrowings 20 5,244 3,828
Deferred tax liability 21 2,160 2,430
8,367 6,258
Tatal liabilities 56,792 27,201
Net assets 28,263 17,063
Issuad capital and reserves attributable to shareholdaers.
Share capital 3 5,032 4,301
Share premium 24 246,686 17,043
" Deferred shares 24 5,180 5,180
Shates to be issued 24 3,085 10,914
Shares held by administrators 24 {264) (264)
Merger reserve 24 11,645 82,009
Reversa Acquisition reserve 24 - {82,387}
Share-based payment reserve 22 29 30
Foreign exchange reserve 24 1,163 174
Retaingd ¢arnings 24 (27.305) (19,937}
28,263 17,063

These financial statements were approved and avthorised for issue by the Bozrd of Directoss on 2 September 2021, and

were signed on Its behalf by:

Clive Carver / ?’/fé A/Z/‘t/

Directar

The accompanying notes to the zccounts on pages 31 1o 82 form aa integral part of these financial statements,
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Company statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2020
Registered number: 10706264 (England and Wales)
2020 1018
Note $'000 $'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant, and equipment 12 5
intangible asset 13 a7 .
Imvestment in subsidiaries 14 29.458 61,773
lnvestment im assoctates 15 - -
Net amounts dug from subsidiaries 25,350 14,070
55,060 75,843
Qurrent assets
Trade and othes receivables 16 12,240 232
Cash and cash equivalents 17 1,280 1
13,520 233
Total assets 68, 580 76,076
Liablilties
Current [abilitias
Trade and other payables 18 5085 4,743
Loans and borrowings 20 2,266 377
7,351 5120
MNon-current tfabilitles
Loans and borrowings 0 5,244 1,226
5.244 1,226
Total [iabllities 12,595 6,346
Net assets 55,985 69,730
Issued capltal and reserves attributable to shareholders
Share capltal ' 23 5,032 4,301
Share prefium 24 20,686 17,043
Deferred shares 24 5,180 5,180
Shares to be issued 24 3,085 10,914
Share-based payment reserve 22 29 2,669
Marger reserve 24 11,645 33,184
Foreign exchange ¢gserve 4 2,145 285
Retalned earnings 24 {827} {8,846}
Total equity 55,985 69,730

As permitted by Section 408 of the Compandes Act 2006, the intome statement and statement of eomprehensive income
of the parent Company is not prasented as part of these financial statements. The parent Company's result after taxation

for the financlal vear was 8 loss of USD 2.822 million {2019: loss USD 5.045 million).

These financial statements weve approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 2 September 2021 and

weere signed on fts behalf by:

Qlive Carver /Z&é @‘é&/

Director

The accompanying notes 10 the atoounts on pages 31 1o 82 form aa integral part of these financlol statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Share-
Reverse based Foreign
Share Share Deferred Sharesto  Administrator Merger  Acquisition payment Exchange Retained

capital premium shares be Issued owned shares reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total equity

$'000 $000 $000 $’000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Equity at 1 January 2019 3,179 N : 10,914 - 82,009 (89,237) - (28) (8,044) (1,207)
Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (11,893) (11,893)
Other comprehensive
income
Foreign exchange - - - - - - - - 202 - 202
Total comprehensive income - - - - - - - - 202 {11,893) (11,691)
Reverse Acquisition Airnow 1,122 17,043 5,180 - - - 6,850 - - - 30,195
Treasury shares movement - - - - (264) - - - - - (264)
Share-based payment - - - - - - - 30 - - 30
Total transactions with
owners recognised in equity 1,122 17,043 5,180 - (264) - 6,850 30 - - 29,961
Equity at 31 December 2019 4,301 17,043 5,180 10,914 (264) 82,009 (82,387) 30 174 (19,937) 17,063




2T

Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued)

1See Note 23
Share-
f Reverse based Foreign
Share Share Deferred Sharesto  Administrator Merger  Acquisition payment Exchange Retained
Capital* premium shares be Issued? owned shares reserve? reserve’ reserve reserve earnings Total equity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $’000 $’000

Equity at 1 January 2020 4,301 17,043 5,180 10,914 (264) 82,009 (82,387) 30 174 {19,937) 17,063
Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 4,666 4,666
Other comprehensive
income
Foreign exchange - - - (268) - 238 - - 991 - 961
Total comprehensive income - - - (268) - 238 - - 991 4,666 5,627
Share issues 535 12,122 - - - - - - - - 12,657
Settlement of share option 20 521 - - - - - (541) - - -
Shares issued and to be 162 - - (4,332) - - . - - 4,170 -
issued for Airpush acquisition
Shares issued and to be 14 - - - - - - - - 357 3
issued for Abilott acquisition
Airpush Inc restructure® - - - (6,314) - (70,602) 82,387 540 - {16,561) (10,550)
Share consideration - Avantis - - - 2,718 - - - - - - 2,718
Share-based payment - - - 377 - - - - - - 377
Total transactions with
owners recognised in equity 731 12,643 - (7,551) - (70,602) 82,387 (1) - (12,034) 5,573
Equity at 31 December 2020 5,032 29,686 5,180 3,095 (264) 11,645 - 29 1,165 (27,307) 28,263

2 Shares to be issued comprised shares in escrow as a result of the legal acquisition of Airpush Inc by Airnow PLC. In the year to 31 December 2020, Airpush Inc was placed in administration and as such
shares to be issued were extinguished. USD 2.718 million relates to shares to be issued as part consideration of the “Avantis” acquisition. The value of USD 0.377 million relates to shares issued post year
end in settlement of trade and other payable liabilities incurred in the normal operation of business.

3The Reverse Acquisition reserve and part of Merger reserve were created due to the reverse acquisition of Airnow PLC by Airpush Inc. With Airpush Inc being placed into administration, the Reverse
Acquisition reserve was extinguished. The transactional entries that created the entries were reversed with the disclosed values being transferred directly to retained earnings (Note 27).

4 Two Company share option incentives schemes were cancelled.

® See Note 27

The accompanying notes to the accounts on pages 31 to 82 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Share-
Shares based Foreign
Share Share Deferred to be payment Merger exchange Retained Total
Capital*  Premium shares issued? reserve? reserve® reserve earnings equity

$'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $’000 $’000 $'000
Equity at 1 January 2019 5,916 15,485 - - 1,374 11,645 (860) (3,801) 29,759
Loss for the year - - - - - - - (5,045) (5,045)
Other comprehensive
Foreign exchange - - - - - - 1,145 - 1,145
Total comprehensive income - - - - - - 1,145 (5,045) (3,900)
Shares issues — acquisition of 3,179 } ; 10,914 ) 82,008 ) ) 96,101
Airpush Inc
Investment impairment - - - - - (55,469) - - (55,469)
Share issues (net of 386 1,558 B _ _ _ R R 1,944
expenses)
Split and consolidation of (5,180) . 5,180 R . R . . _
shares
Share-based payment - - - - 1,295 - - - 1,295
Total transactions with
owners recognised in equity 1,615 1,558 5,180 10,914 1,295 26,539 - - 43,871
Equity at 31 December 2019 4,301 17,043 5,180 10,914 2,669 38,184 285 (8,846) 69,730
Loss for the year - - - - - - - (2,821) (2,821)
Other comprehensive
Foreign exchange - - - - - - 1,860 - 1,860
Total comprehensive income - - - - - - 1,860 (2,821) (961)
Shares issues (net of 731 12,643 ) ) ) A i i 13,374
expenses)
Airpush Inc restructure® - - - {(10,914) - (27,390) - 10,840 (27,464)
Opening foreign exchange - - - - - 851 - - 851
Share consideration - Avantis - - - 2,718 - - - - 2,718
Share based payment - - - 377 (2,640) - - - (2,263)
Icv’vt::a::arr:;cgt::esdv::r;quity 731 12,643 - (7819)  (2,640) (26539) - 10840 (12,784)
Equity at 31 December 2020 5,032 29,686 5,180 3,095 29 11,645 2,145 (827) 55,985

1See Note 23

2Shares to be issued comprised shares held in escrow as a result of the reverse acquisition of Airnow PLC by Airpush Inc. in the year to 31
December 2020, Airpush Inc was placed into administration and as such shares to be issued were extinguished. USD 2.718 million relates
to shares to be issued as part consideration of the “Avantis” acquisition. The value of USD 0.377 million relates to shares issued post year
end in settiement of trade and other payable liabilities incurred in the normal operation of business.

3Two Company share option incentives schemes were cancelled.

4With Airpush Inc being placed into administration, the value relating to Airpush Inc was transferred to retained earnings. The remaining
value relates to transactions with continuing companies within the Group.

5 See Note 27

The accompanying notes to the accounts on pages 31 to 82 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019

Note $’000 $’000
Profit / (loss) for the year 4,666 (11,893)
Adjustments for:
Tax credit (269) (330)
Finance expense 855 697
Share based payments (1,429) -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3 -
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 5,847 1,701
Impairment of intangible assets - 2,993
Loss on disposal of property, plant, and equipment 3 -
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables (416) 2,332
(Decrease) / increase in trade and other payables (1,391) 5,016
Group acquisition, reorganisation & restructure
Increase in trade receivables — Airnow Video / Avantis 25 (12,553) -
Increase in trade and other payables — Airnow Video / Avantis 25 5,837 -
Restructure of Airpush Inc / Assets repurchased by Airnow Group 26 (7,591) -
Income taxes paid - (6)
Net cash flows (used) / generated by operating activities (6,438) 510
Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired - 35
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (16) -
Acquisition of intangible assets - Capitalisation salary costs (1,692) -
Investment Avantis / Airnow Video - payments to Avantis (7,634) -
Shares to be issued as consideration - Avantis 2,718 -
Net cash (used) / generated by investing activities (6,624) 35
Financing activities
Loan interest paid (484) (369)
Other interest paid (29) -
Repayment of loans and borrowings (2,351) (304)
Proceeds of loans and borrowings 4,310 -
Proceeds from share issues 12,657 -
Proceeds from factoring - 427
Proceeds of loan note - (160)
Net cash generated / (used) by financing 14,103 (406)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,041 139
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents 90 -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 418 279
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17 1,549 418

Significant non-cash transactions occurred as a result of the Group restructure exercise and the acquisition of video advertising assets
from Avantis. These are disclosed separately in the sub-section “Group acquisition, reorganisation and restructure” within cashflows

generated by operating activities.

The non-cash transactions relate to deferred consideration on a business activity purchase transaction outlined in the Chairman’s

Statement, Chief Executive’s Review and Note 25.

The accompanying notes to the accounts on pages 31 to 82 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements

1. Corporate Information

The consolidated financial information represents the results of Airnow PLC ("Company"} and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as "the Group").

Airnow PLC is a company limited by shares incorporated on 3 April 2017 and domiciled in England and Wales, registration
number 10706264. The Company’s registered office is Salisbury House, London Wall, London, England, EC2M 5PS.

2. Basis of preparation
Group Financial Statements

The financial information for the Group and the Company have been prepared using the historical cost convention except for
business combinations, financial assets and financial liabilities (refer to the individual accounting policies for details). These
policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

For consistency across the Group, the Group’s and Company’s financial statements are presented in US Dollars (“USD”/“$”),
rounded to the nearest thousands (USD’000) unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
Iinternational Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Company Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, ‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101) which forms part of UK accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council. The
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified and in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006. There were no adjustments required for all periods presented on the adoption of FRS 101, following the
transition from IFRS to FRS 101.

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101, on the basis that equivalent
disclosures are, where required, are given in the consolidated financial statements:

a. Cash Flow Statement and related notes as required by |AS 7 — ‘Statement of Cashflows’;

b. the requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ to present comparative information in
respect of paragraph 79(a)(IV) of IAS 1 — a reconciliation of the share capital at beginning and end of the period;

¢. the requirements of paragraph 134 — 136 of |1AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ to disclose the management of the
capital of the Company;

d. the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8, ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ to
disclose the new or revised standards that have not been adopted and information about their likely impact;

e. all of the disclosure requirements of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’;
f. the requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24, ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose key management personnel; and

g. the requirements in IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or
more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by such a member.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)

Reverse acquisition with Airpush Inc

On 17 December 2019 Airnow PLC acquired the entire common stock of Airpush Inc and in exchange new shares in Airnow
PLC were issued to the holders of common stock in Airpush inc.

In applying IFRS 3 principles, this acquisition was treated in 2019 as a reverse acquisition as the Airpush Inc shareholders
owned the majority of shares in Airnow PLC post combination. Accordingly, the following accounting treatment was applied
in respect of the reverse acquisition.

1. Airpush Inc was deemed the accounting acquirer and the Goodwill arising on the reverse acquisition of Airnow PLC is
shown in Note 13. Intangibles and the assets and liabilities acquired are shown in Note 27.

2. The presentation of the consolidated financial statements of the legal parent (Airnow PLC) is a continuation of the
accounting acquirer’s financial statements.

3. Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 for the Group present the results of the Airpush
Inc business from 1 January 2019 to and including 17 December 2019 (date of combination) and the enlarged Group
thereafter.

4. The assets and liabilities of Airpush Inc business are recognised in the Group financial statements at pre-combination
carrying amounts.

5. The equity structure appearing in the Group financial statements reflects the equity structure of the legal parent (Airnow
PLC), including the shares issued and shares to be issued under the share for share exchange to effect the business
combination.

6. The retained earnings and other equity balances recognised in the Group financial statements reflect the retained
earnings and other equity balances of Airpush Inc business immediately before the business combination and includes
that of the Group after the business combination on 17 December 2019.

7. The Reverse Acquisition reserve relates to the adjustments for (5) and (6) above for the reverse acquisition between
Airnow PLC and Airpush Inc business on 17 December 2019.

Reversal of the Reverse Acquisition

On 17 November 2020 the accounting acquirer Airpush Inc was placed into administration and the legal parent Airnow PLC
purchased from the administrator of Airpush Inc certain assets to continue the trade of Airpush Inc.

The consideration for the assets purchased from the administrator was USD 10.2 million and these are shown as an addition
within Technology intangible assets (Note 13). Management has assessed the transaction to be an asset purchase rather than
a business combination based on the result of the concentration test under IFRS 3. More details are disclosed in Note 3
Estimates and judgements.

Steps taken to reflect the administration of Airpush inc. and its impact to the Statement of Changes in Equity is disclosed in
Note 27.

Composition of the Airnow Group

A list of the subsidiary undertakings of the Airnow Group is given in Note 14 of the financial statements.

32



Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

Going concern

In common with many other fast growing technology companies the Group has relied in recent years on raising equity and
debt capital, generally in the form of trade finance, to bridge the gap between receipts and expenditures. To continue on the
current growth plan further equity and debt capital will be required.

In the year ended 31 December 2020 the Group reported a profit after taxation of USD 4.9 million for the year and had a net
cash outflow from operations of USD 6.4 million.

Between 1 January 2020 and the date of this report the Company raised approximately USD 20 million by the issue of new
shares. ;

The Board has considered detailed cashflows covering the 12 month period to August 2022, together with a series of
sensitivities, including a 10% reduction in sales and the loss of the largest customer.

We have not seen any Covid-19 related material adverse impact on the Group’s business. Similarly, the Directors do not expect
there will be any Brexit related material adverse impact. Accordingly, the Directors do not believe the impact of Covid-19 or
Brexit affects their assessment of going concern.

On the basis that the Board expects to be able to raise any additional capital required the Board has concluded that the
adoption of the going concern convention in the presentation of these financial statements remains appropriate and
accordingly the Financial Statements of the Group are prepared on a going concern basis as detailed in Note 2 to the financial
statements. However, as there can be no certainty that additional capital will be raised, there exists a material financial
uncertainty which may cast doubt on the use of the going concern convention. The consolidated statements do not include
any adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern basis were inappropriate.

New standards, interpretations, and amendments not yet effective and not adopted by the Group

a) New standards and amendments — applicable 1 January 2020
The following standards and interpretations apply for the first time to financial reporting periods commencing on or after 1
January 2020:

Effective Date Impact
Definition of Material - Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of financial statements” 1 January 2020 None
Definition of Material - Amendment to IAS 8 “Accounting policies” 1 January 2020 None
Definition of a Business — Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” 1 January 2020 None
Revised Conceptual Framework for financial reporting 1 January 2020 None
Interest rate benchmark reform — Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 1 January 2020 None
Interest rate benchmark reform - Amendments to IFRS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and measurement” 1 January 2020 None
Interest rate benchmark reform - Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures” 1 January 2020 None

b) Forthcoming requirements
As at 31 December 2020, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but were not mandatory for annual
reporting periods ending on 31 December 2020.

Effective Date Impact
Reference to Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3 1 January 2022 None
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 - 2020 1 January 2022 None
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current - Amendments to |AS 1 1January 2023 None

The Directors do not expect the adoption of these standards, interpretations and amendments to have a material impact on
the Group or Company financial statements in the period of initial application.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)

Basis of consolidation

Where Airnow PLC has control over an investee, it is classified as a subsidiary. Airnow PLC controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure to variable returns from the investee, and the ability
of the investor to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements of control.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet respectively.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting after initially being recognised at cost (Note 3).

The consolidated financial statements present the results of Airnow PLC, its subsidiaries and associates as if they formed a
single entity. Intercompany transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated in full.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies
Foreign currency

For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency of the primary economic environment which the entity
operates. The functional currency of the Company is GB Pound Sterling (“GBP” / “£”). The functional currencies of the Group'’s
subsidiaries include United States Dollars and Euro (“EUR” / “€").

The presentation currency of the Group and the Company is USD as it is the normal currency for transactions in the digital
advertising market place.

Transactions and balances denominated in foreign currency:

i) Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.

ii) Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement within administrative expenses.

Consolidation of Group companies:
The results and financial position of Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

i) Monetary assets and liabilities for each statement of financial liability are translated from the functional currency to USD
using the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position

ii) Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates of the period functional
currency to USD.

i} Non-monetary assets and liabilities, share capital, share premium, and other equity reserves are translated using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

iv) The exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.

v) Exchange differences are recycled to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment upon disposal of the foreign operation.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)
Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group’s primary source of revenue is from the delivery of performance-based advertising on mobile applications through
its proprietary software development kit (“SDK"} technology.

The Group’s customers are direct advertisers, affiliate advertisers and advertising agencies with whom the Group will enter
into a contract or ongoing master service agreement.

The Group generates revenue by charging its customers a fee based on a customer’s total spend on advertising campaigns
delivered through its platform. The customer’s total spend on advertising is determined by multiplying an agreed performance
metric option, such as cost per mil (CPM}, impression (CPI), click (CPC) or action (CPA) with the volumes of units delivered.

The Group’s other revenue includes sale of licences to use its software products on a rental basis for a fixed period of time.
Revenue from licenses sold on a rental or subscription basis is recognised over the period for which the Group has obligations
under the contract.

The Group also carries out non-recurring work under contracts or statements of work.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, sales-related taxes and after eliminating sales within the

Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities as described below.

Revenue from contracts is recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 as follows:

. ldentify the contract with the customer

. Identify the performance obligations in the contract

. Determine the transaction price

. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, which occurs when control
of the goods or services underlying the relevant performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

Performance obligations and timing of revenue recognition

Revenues from performance-based advertising are recognised on completion of the performance criteria. In most cases, this
is when the mobile user clicks through to an advertisement that has been displayed on a mobile application.

Revenues generated from ongoing master reseller agreements are based on a fixed price or milestone-based fee that are
recognised over the period of the agreement in which the service is provided, and any relevant milestones are met.

Annual contracts for services are recognised on a monthly basis. Where advanced payments are made in advance of satisfying
the performance obligation, these amounts are transferred to deferred revenue and recognised over the length of the
contract.

Contracts for non-recurring services are invoiced and recognised when the performance obligations in a contract or statement
of work has been completed.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales represents the direct and indirect expenses that are attributable to the services or product sold. They consist
primarily of payments to mobile application developers as consideration for allowing the Company to integrate Airnow’s SDK
on their mobile applications and deliver the advertising on behalf of Airnow’s customers. Cost of sales also includes hosting
and data centre costs related to operating Airnow’s SDK and delivery of advertisement content as well as payment processing
fees.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)
Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payments

In normal operations, the Group operates equity settled share-based payment plans for remuneration of its employees.
During 2020 no share-based schemes were in operation. New schemes were commenced in 2021.

All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based compensation are measured at their fair values.
These are indirectly determined by reference to the share options awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and
excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (e.g. profitability or sales growth targets).

All share-based compensation is ultimately recognised as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding credit to
the share-based payment reserve, net of deferred tax where applicable. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply,
the expense is allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected
to vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the number of share options expected to vest
differs from previous estimates. No adjustment to expense recognised in prior periods is made if fewer share options
ultimately are exercised than originally estimated.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, up to the nominal
value of the shares issued are realiocated to common stock with any excess being recorded as additional share premium.

Where modifications are made to the vesting or lapse dates of options the excess of the fair value of the revised options over
the fair value of the original options at the modification date is expensed over the remaining vesting period.

The cancellation of share options is accounted for as an acceleration of the vesting period and therefore any amount
unrecognised that would otherwise have been charged should be recognised immediately.

Option grants generally vest over one to four years. The options have a contractual term of 10 years.

For stock options issued to non-employees, including consultants and contracted sales representatives, the Company records
expense equal to the fair value of the options measured at the grant date.

Business combinations under common control

A common control transaction is a business combination in which all the combining entities or businesses are ultimately
controlled by the same company before and after the combination. IFRS 3 provides no specific guidance on accounting for
entities under common control and therefore other relevant standards have been considered. These standards refer to book
value methodology that has been used for the following transactions.

Transfer of business from Priori Data to Airnow Data

On 12 August 2020 the business of Priori Data was transferred to another subsidiary Airnow Data. As both Priori Data and
Airnow Data were under common control before and after the transaction, the transfer is scoped out of IFRS 3, and thus
accounted for using book value method. Under this method, assets and liabilities were transferred from Priori Data to Airnow
Data at book value and intangible assets are only recognised if they were recognised previously by Prior Data. No Goodwill is
recorded, and expenses of the transfer are written off immediately in profit or loss. At the Group level the carrying value of
the intangibles of the business have remained at the level of the BDO valuation (Note 27) less subsequent amortisation (Note
13).

Transfer of the ReachAds intangible and Ownership of Airpush Hong Kong

During the year, ownership of the ReachAds intangible was transferred from Airpush Inc to Airpush Hong Kong and the
ownership of Airpush Hong Kong was transferred from Airpush Inc to Airnow PLC. These entities are under common control,
the transfer of ownership of Airpush Hong Kong is scoped out of IFRS 3 and accounted for using the book value method. In
the consolidated financial statements the carrying value of the ReachAds intangible has remained at the 2019 value less
subsequent amortisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)
Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Business Combination and Goodwill

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting for acquisitions of a subsidiary. The consideration transferred is
measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange. Costs directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed in the period. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group'’s interest in the fair value of net identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired. Goodwill is recognised at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Any impairment in carrying value is being charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for Goodwill cannot be reversed.

Goodwill is allocated to appropriate cash generating units (CGUs). Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for
impairment or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amount is determined based on value in use calculations. The use of this method requires the estimation of future
cash flows and the determination of a discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the cash flows.

Non-controlling interests and equity accounting

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence but not control, generally involving a shareholding
of 20% to 50% of the voting rights of the entity. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy of the investee but not the ability to control those policy decisions. Investment in associates are accounted for using
equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from
associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment at each year end.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)
Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from Goodwill where they
satisfy the definition of an intangible asset. Externally acquired intangible assets are initially recognised at cost which is their
fair value at the acquisition date and comprise customer relationships, trade names and technology.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The carrying values are tested for impairment when there is an indication
that the value of the assets might be impaired.

All intangible assets acquired through business combinations are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful
economic lives.

The significant intangible assets recognised by the Airnow Group and their useful economic lives are as follows:

Customer relationships 4 years
Technology From 3 to 10 years

The amortisation expense is recognised within administrative expenses in the profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their estimated useful lives, the
following assets have been depreciated using the declining-balance method. The estimated useful lives range as follows:

Office equipment - 3 to 6 years on cost
Domain names - 2 to 3 years on cost

Capitalised Development Costs

Expenditure on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining technical knowledge and understanding is
recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique products controlled by
Group are recognised as intangible assets where the following criteria are met.

a) Itis technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use;

b) Management intends to complete the asset and use or sell it;

c) There is an ability to use or sell the asset;

d) It can be demonstrated how the asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

e) Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset are
available; and

f)  The expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the asset include the product development employee costs and
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits held with banks with a maturity of three months or less.
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Financial assets
Classifications

On initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets as either those to be measured subsequently at fair value or
those to be measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. At each reporting year-end,
the financial assets of the Airnow Group are all classified as receivables, cash and cash equivalents.

a) Financial assets subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for
trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected to be settled
within 12 months, otherwise they are classified as non-current assets.

b) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest and are measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Financial assets not carried at fair value through profit and loss are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit and loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are
expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially ail the risks and rewards of
ownership. Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost is included in finance income using the effective interest
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as a separate line item in the statement of
profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are
presented in the income statement within administrative expenses in the financial year in which they arise.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and it must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the
counterparty.

Impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
For trade receivables the Group applies a simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. Further details are provided in Note 16.
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Trade and other receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers but also incorporate other types of contractual
monetary assets.

They are initially recognised at fair value and measured subsequent to initial recognition at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment loss.

The Group’s financial assets comprise trade receivables, other receivables (excluding prepayments), cash and cash
equivalents.

Trade and other receivables - impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group has applied an expected credit loss model to calculate the impairment losses on its trade
receivables. The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. Trade receivables at the balance sheet date
have been put into groups based on days past the due date for payment and an expected loss percentage has been applied
to each group to generate the expected credit loss provision for each group and a total expected credit loss provision has thus
been calculated.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Airnow Group becomes a party to the contractual agreements of the instrument.

At initial recognition financial liabilities (trade and other payables, excluding other taxes and social security costs, bank
borrowings and deferred income), are measured at their fair value plus, if appropriate, any transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial liability. These financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition and re-evaluate the designation at each
financial year end.

A financial liability is de-recognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
Share capital

Financial instruments issued by the Airnow Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the definition
of a financial liability. The Airnow Group's share capital is classified as equity instruments and shown in Note 23.

Leases

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets, which are expensed to the profit & loss over the
expense term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and borrowings’ in
the statement of financial position.

There were no right-of-use assets nor lease liabilities at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.
Retirement Benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution plan for its employees in the UK. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the Group has
no further payments obligations. The Group also has a 401(k) plan, a type of defined contribution scheme in the United States
in which all employees are eligible to participate after meeting eligibility requirements.

The contributions are recognised as an expense in the Income Statement when they fall due. Amounts not paid are shown in
accruals as a liability in the Statement of Financial Position. The assets of the plans are held separately from the Group in
independently administered funds.
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Taxation

Current taxation

Current income tax assets and liabilities comprise those obligations to fiscal authorities in the countries in which the
Group carries out its operations. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal
period and the country to which they relate. All changes to current tax liabilities are recognised as a component of
tax expense in the income statement unless the tax relates to an item taken directly to equity in which case the tax is
also taken directly to equity. Tax relating to items recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the statement of financial
position differs from its tax base, except for differences arising on:

- theinitial recognition of Goodwill;

- theinitial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting or taxable profit; and

- investments in subsidiaries where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the difference and it is probable
that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the difference can be utilised.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax liabilities or assets are settled or recovered. Deferred tax
balances are not discounted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes certain estimates and judgements regarding the future. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
based on historical experience and other factors, including the expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. In the future, actual experience may differ from these estimates and judgements. The
estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Judgements

a)

b)

Fair value measurement (Note 27)

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s financial statements require measurement at, and/or disclosure
of fair value. The inputs used in determining fair value measurements are observable direct or indirect inputs.

The management engaged an external valuer, BDO, to produce a valuation report of the fair value of the business acquired
in the legal acquisition of Airpush Inc on 17 December 2019 (“BDO valuation”). As this has been accounted for as a reverse
acquisition under IFRS 3, Airpush Inc is the accounting acquirer and the valuation is of the business of Airnow PLC and its
direct subsidiaries on 17 December 2019. A purchase price allocation was undertaken to identify the technology and
customer relationships acquired. The fair values of these intangible assets are shown in Note 27.

The determination of the fair value of intangible assets, including Goodwill arising on the acquisition of businesses, which
is expected to generate future economic benefits, is based on management’s judgement.

The fair value of assets is determined by discounting estimated future net cash flows generated by the asset where no
active market for the assets exists. The use of different assumptions for the expectations of future cash flows, the discount
rate and useful life of intangibles are inherently based on management’s judgement and would change the valuation of
the intangible assets.

Allocation of the purchase price affects the results of the Group as finite life intangible assets are amortised, whereas
indefinite lived intangible assets, including Goodwill, are not amortised and could result in differing amortisation charges
based on the allocation to indefinite lived and finite lived intangible assets Impairment of Goodwill and intangible assets
acquired in a business combination.

Impairment of Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a business combination (Note 13 and 14)

IFRS requires management to undertake an annual test for impairment of indefinite life assets and finite life assets, to test
for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

As set out in the accounting policies above, intangible assets acquired in a business combination other than Goodwill are
capitalised and amortised over their useful lives. Both initial valuations and valuations for subsequent impairment tests
are based on risk adjusted future cash flows discounted using appropriate discount rates. These future cash flows will be
based on forecasts and the discount rates which are inherently judgemental. Future events could cause the assumptions
to change which could have an adverse effect on the future results of the Group.
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c}

d)

e)

f)

Principal vs Agent (Note 5)

The entity is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.
Management assessed whether Zhenli Technology, a wholly owned subsidiary, acts as principal or agent in its transactions
with Amazon and GMobi India based on the following indications that an entity controls specified good or service as
defined by IFRS 15.

i)  The entity is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide goods or service
ii) The entity has inventory risk before the specified good or service has been transferred to a customer and
iii) The entity has discretion in establishing the price for the specified good or service.

Management concluded Zhenli is acting as principal in these transactions and on this basis, revenue in relation to Zhenli
Technology is recorded gross.

Consolidation of Avantis assets within Airnow PLC Group (Note 27)

On 19 August 2020, Airnow PLC agreed to purchase from Avantis certain assets as set out in Note 25 (“Original
Agreement”).

On 6 April 2021 Airnow PLC and Avantis entered into a further agreement to terminate the Original Agreement as
amended.

Management assessed this event and concluded that it is a non-adjusting post balance sheet event. The rationale for this
assessment was that the Original Agreement conditions had been met and the acquisition had completed with the Group
having control of the assets acquired and at 31 December 2020 the clear intention of the Group was to continue to operate
under the Original Agreement as revised by a further agreement dated 1 December 2020.

Assets repurchased from Airpush Inc (Note 26)

Management assessed the acquisition of assets from Airpush Inc (in administration) and concluded the transaction be
defined as an asset purchase rather than the acquisition of a business. This is based on the amount of fair value of the
transaction being concentrated in a single identifiable asset of intellectual property being the Airpush Inc technology which
is included as an addition within Technology intangibles of USD 10.2 million. Details are shown in Note 13 Intangible Assets.

Recoverability of investment in subsidiaries including intra group receivables (Note 14)

The recoverability of investments in subsidiaries, including intra group receivables, is directly linked to the recoverability
of the underlying assets, which is subject to estimates and judgement as explained in impairment of intangible assets
above. :
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Estimates

a)

b)

c)

Convertible loan note (Note 20)

On 30 December 2017 Airpush Inc entered into a convertible promissory note and assignment agreement with Gogoplata
Ventures LLC. The annual interest rate for this note was 20% and the Group has assessed the market interest for this note
was 20%. In December 2019 the agreement was amended upon the negotiation of a new facility with Harbert. These
facilities are shown in Note 20 Loans and Borrowings.

Taxation (Note 9)

In recognising income tax assets and liabilities, management makes estimates of the likely outcome of decisions by tax
authorities on transactions and events whose treatment for tax purposes is uncertain. Where the final outcome of such
matters is different, or expected to be different, from previous assessments made by management, a change to the
carrying value of income tax assets and liabilities will be recorded in the period in which such a determination is made. In
recognising deferred tax assets and liabilities management also makes judgements about likely future taxable profits. The
carrying values of current tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities are disclosed separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Impairment (Note 13 and 14)

In assessing the carrying value of investments in subsidiaries and intangibles, management makes estimates of the
appropriate risk adjusted cost of capital for each business unit and uses cashflow forecasts to obtain a value in use from
a discounted cashflow.

To evaluate the recoverable amount of each intangible within a CGU based on value in use, the following key information
should be noted.

* The recoverable amounts have been determined using the cashflow forecast from its most recent financial plans
projected for a five-year period and then extrapolated into perpetuity, with a discount rate applied.

 The financial plans have been prepared at the cash generating unit level based on historical trends adjusted for
expected events. Projected adjusted revenue for each CGU is expressed as the compound annual growth rates
(CAGRY)in the initial five years of the forecasts used for impairment testing. This methodology places strong emphasis
on early year cash flows and revenue growth assumptions in evaluating impairment.
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The Board of directors of Airnow has overall responsibility for the determination of the Airnow Group’s risk management
objectives and policies. The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without
unduly affecting the Airnow Group’s competitiveness and flexibility. The Airnow Group reports in US Dollars $. All funding
requirements and financial risks are managed based on policies and procedures adopted by the board.

The Airnow Group is exposed to the following financial risks:

. Market risk

. Interest rate risk

. Foreign exchange risk
U Credit risk

] Liquidity risk

In common with all other businesses, the Airnow Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. The
principal financial instruments used by the Airnow Group, from which financial instrument risk arises, are as follows:

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Bank loans

To the extent financial instruments are not carried at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position, book value
approximates to fair value at 31 December 2020, 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2019.

Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost. Book values and expected cash flows are reviewed by the Board
and any impairment charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the relevant period.

Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments by category

Financial assets

2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Current
Cash and cash equivalents 1,549 418
Trade receivables — due at reporting date 939 493
Trade receivables — not due at reporting date 12,267 859
Gross trade receivables ) 13,206 1,352
Less provision for impairment \ (86) (75)
Trade receivables - net 13,120 1,277
Accrued income 26 426
Receivables at amortised cost 13,146 1,703
Financial assets at amortised cost 14,695 2,121
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Financial liabilities

2020 2019

$'000 $'000
Trade payables 13,779 11,177
Other payables 23,558 1,920
Deferred income 239 899
Accruals 7,203 4,182
Trade and other payables : 44,779 18,178
Bank loans — fixed interest rate 5,115 2,264
Convertible loan note 2,500 2,500
Factoring - 550
Loans and borrowings 7,615 5,314
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 52,394 23,492

The management of risk is a fundamental concern of the Airnow Group’s management. This note summarises the key risks to
the Airnow Group and the policies and procedures put in place by management to manage them.

a) Market risk

Market risk arises from the Airnow Group's use of interest-bearing financial instruments. It is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates (interest rate risk) or foreign
exchange rates (foreign exchange risk).

b) Interest rate risk

The Airnow Group borrowings are all on a fixed rate basis and thus the Airnow Group are not exposed to interest rate risk.
Loans and other borrowings are disclosed in Note 20.
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c) Foreign exchange risk

The Group and Company operate internationally and are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from transactional currency
exposures, primarily in US Dollars $. Foreign exchange risk arises from recognised assets and liabilities and future commercial

transactions.

Foreign exchange risk is managed centrally by the Group finance team. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s functional currency.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in Sterling £ and in Euro € being reported in US Dollars $.

Sterling £ 2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Cash & equivalents 1,304 1
Trade & other receivables 12,433 1,551
Other payables and accruals (16,378) (8,314)
Bank overdrafts (27) (660)
(2,668) (7,422)

Euro € 2020 2019
$’000 $'000

Cash & equivalents 16 34
Trade & other receivables 13 165
Other payables and accruals (185) (977)
Loans and borrowings (5,010) (1,603)
(5,166) (2,381)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the change in the Group’s loss for the period and accumulated losses that would arise if
foreign exchange rates in Sterling £ and Euro to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of each reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

Sterling £ currency change 2020 2019
Profit or loss $’000 $’000
10% strengthening of sterling (593) “(61)
10% weakening of sterling 593 50
Net assets/(liabilities)

10% strengthening of sterling (267) (1,078)
10% weakening of sterling 267 830
Euro currency change 2020 2019
Profit or loss $'000 $’000
10% strengthening of euro (50) (65)
10% weakening of euro 50 53
Net assets/(liabilities)

10% strengthening of euro (513) (349)
10% weakening of euro 513 285
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d)  Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Airnow Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations. The Airnow Group is mainly exposed to credit risk from credit sales. The Airnow Group’s net trade
receivables for the two reported periods are disclosed in the financia! assets table above.

The Airnow Group attempts to mitigate credit risk by assessing the credit rating of new customers prior to entering into
contracts and by entering contracts with customers with agreed credit terms.

In order to minimise this credit risk, the Airnow Group endeavours only to deal with companies which are demonstrably
creditworthy and this, together with the aggregate financial exposure, is continuously monitored. The maximum exposure to
credit risk is the value of the outstanding amount.

Airnow evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivable and provides an allowance for expected credit losses based upon
the ageing of receivables as shown in Note 16 Trade and other receivables.

The Group considers an accounts receivable to be in default when there is no realistic receipt of contractual funds. At this
point the amount owing to Group is written off.

Other receivables comprise prepayments, the management do not consider that there is any concentration of risk within
other receivables. '

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be small as the counterparties are all substantial banks with high
credit ratings. The deposits and cash balances at the main banks are partly insured, some balances at smaller foreign banks
are not insured but are not material. The maximum exposure is the amount of the deposit. To date, Airnow has not
experienced any losses on its cash and cash equivalent deposits.

e) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Airnow Group’s management of working capital. It is the risk that the Airnow Group will
encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group plans to acquire additional financing, the
Company is in constant negotiations with the venture capitals and financial institutions. The Airnow Group also uses an invoice
discounting facility to help manage this risk. The table below analyses the Airnow Group’s financial liabilities by contractual
maturities and all amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contractual cash flows:

GROUP

31 December 2020 Within 1 1-2 years 2-5years
year

$’000 $'000 $’000

Trade/other payables and accruals 44,540 - -

Bank loans . 5,115 - -

Convertible loan note - - 2,500

Factoring - - -

49,655 - 2,500

31 December 2019 Within 1 1-2 years 2-5 years
year

$'000 $’000 $’000

Trade/other payables and accruals 17,279 - -

Bank loans 2,264 - -

Convertible loan note - - 2,500

Factoring 550 - -

20,093 - 2,500
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f) Capital management

The Airnow Group'’s capital is made up as follows:

2020 2019
$’000 $’000
Share capital 5,032 4,301
Share premium 29,686 17,043
Deferred shares 5,180 5,180
Shares to be issued 3,095 10,914
Treasury shares reserve (264) (264)
Merger reserve 11,645 82,009
Reverse Acquisition reserve . - (82,387)
Share-based payment reserve 29 30
Retained earnings & foreign exchange reserve (26,140) (19,763)
28,263 17,063
The Airnow Group’s objectives when maintaining capital are:
U to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
U to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The capital structure of the Airnow Group consists of shareholders’ equity as set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. All working capital requirements are financed from existing cash resources and borrowings.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

Disaggregation of revenue

The Group has disaggregated revenue into various categories in the following table which is intended to:

e depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic date;

and
e enable users to understand the relationship with revenue segment information.

Year ended 31 December 2020

Primary geographic markets

Media Data Total

$’000 $’000 $°000

USA 17,796 200 17,996
United Kingdom 2,595 83 2,678
Rest of the World 11,554 669 12,223
31,945 952 32,897

The Airnow Group has a 50% holding in Airnow Cybersecurity Ltd, a company incorporated on 9 January 2019. Airnow
Cybersecurity Ltd supplies cybersecurity services to Business customers. During the year to 31 December 2020, Airnow
Cybersecurity Ltd had revenues of USD 0.374 million. The results of Airnow Cybersecurity are accounted for on an equity
basis in the Airnow Group financial statements, see Note 14.

Contract counterparties

Media Data Total
$’000 $'000 $’000
Direct to consumers - - -
B2B Services 31,945 952 32,897
31,945 952 32,897
Product types

Media Data Total
$’000 $’000 $’000
Digital services 31,945 952 32,897
31,945 952 32,897

Timing of transfer of services
Media Data Total
$’000 $’000 $'000
Over time 640 339 979
Point in time 31,305 613 31,918
31,945 952 32,897
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Year ended 31 December 2019

Primary geographic markets

Media Data Total
$’000 $’000 $’000
USA 1,848 - 1,848
United Kingdom - - -
Rest of the World 7,242 - 7,242
9,090 - 9,090
Contract counterparties
Media Data Total
$’000 $’000 $’000
Direct to
consumers - - -
B2B Services 9,090 - 9,090
9,090 - 9,090
Product types
Media Data Total
$’000 $’000 $’000
Digital services 9,090 - 9,090
9,090 - 9,090
Timing of transfer of services
Media Data Total
$'000 $’000 $’000
Point in time 9,090 - 9,090
9,090 - 9,090

Contract balances
Balance of trade receivables are presented in Note 16. The Group does not have any contract assets or liabilities (2019: none).
Remaining performance obligations

The Group does not enter into sales contracts greater than 12 months.
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The management team including key management members and the Directors are responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the business and other activities at the operating segment level.

The Group is organised into three operating segments: media, data, and cybersecurity. Cybersecurity services are offered
through an equity accounted associate and hence the respective revenue is not disclosed in the table below.

(a) Revenue from operations
2020 2019
$’000 $7000
Revenue arises from:
Media 31,945 9,090
Data 952 -
32,897 9,090
No customer accounts for more than 10% of revenue.
(b) Geographic markets
An analysis of top external revenue by geographic market is given below:
2020 2019
$000 $’000
United States of America 17,996 1,848
United Kingdom 2,678 -
Rest of the World 12,223 7,242
32,897 9,090
An analysis of non-current assets by geographical location of assets:
2020 2019
$'000 $°000
United States of America - 9,540
United Kingdom 26,993 31,862
Rest of the World 29,375 3
Total 56,368 41,405
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6. Expense by nature

2020 2019

$'000 $'000
Cost of sales — continuing operations
Technical support — Avantis 19,685 -
Hosting Costs 1,075 5,879
Technical support 711 815
Commission 37 -
Total Cost of Sales 21,508 6,694
Administration costs — continuing operations
Restructuring costs 73 -
Amortisation 5,847 1,060
Depreciation 3 -
Wages and salaries 2,602 1,561
Administration 3,926 3,947
Telephone 1,294 -
Listing costs 1,139 -
Contractor costs 715 -
Auditor remuneration 105 150
Professional fees 404 -
Acquisition costs 300 -
Software & apps 345 -
Foreign exchange 336 -
Total Administration costs 17,089 6,718
Impairment reversal
Airnow PLC negotiated a return of certain shares that were issued to
shareholders of Airpush inc on 17 December 2019. These shares will be held for
the benefit of Airnow PLC. The value of these shares is shown as a receivable to
the consolidated and company’s statement of financial position (Note 16) and a
credit to the consolidated and company’s statement of comprehensive income,
being a part reversal of the 2019 impairment of the carrying value of investment
in Airpush Inc. The value of shares is denominated in Sterling and converted to
USD using year end and average exchange rate.

(10,952}

Total Impairment reversal (10,952)
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2020 2019
$'000 $'000
External auditor's remuneration:
Group — Fees payable to the Group’s external auditor and its associates for
the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements financial
statements
PKF Littlejohn LLP 105 -
Moore Kingston Smith R 150
Fees payable to the external auditor and its associates in respect of other
services - -
Total 105 150
7. Staff costs
The average monthly number of employees during the period was as follows:
2020 2019
Management 8 5
Operations and administration 29 48
Total 37 53
Within operating costs:
2020 2019
$’000 $’000
Wages and salaries 2,378 1,361
Defined contribution pension cost 60 53
Social security contributions and similar taxes 206 120
Share based payment (credit) / expense (42) 27
Total 2,602 1,561

The staff costs for continuing businesses above for 2019 included Airnow PLC and its subsidiaries for the period from 17

December 2019 to 31 December 2019 after the business combination with Airpush Inc.

Within costs capitalised as intangible assets:

2020 2019
$'000 $’000
Wages and salaries 455 -
Defined contribution pension cost 1 -
Social security cost contributions and similar taxes 24 -
Share based payment expense - -
Total 480 -
Key management personnel compensation for continuing businesses was made up as follows:
2020 2019
$’000 $'000
Salaries/fees 535 430
Share based payment expense - 10
535 440
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Staff costs (continued)

The highest paid Director received remuneration of USD 0.35 million (2019: USD 0.05 million).

The following directors' remuneration of Airnow PLC is included in the staff costs for 2019 for the enlarged Group for the
period from 17 December 2019 to 31 December 2019.

2019
$’000
Salaries/fees 27
Pension costs -
Share based payment expense 11
38
COMPANY
The average monthly number of employees during the period was as follows:
2020 2019
Management 6 4
8. Finance expense
2020 2019
$’000 $’000
Finance expenses
Interest on bank loans 451 177
Interest on convertible loan note 375 500
Other finance costs 29 -
Total finance expense 855 677
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9. Taxation
2020 2019
$'000 $'000
Corporate tax ) - R
Foreign tax - 294
State tax 1 (3)
Total current tax expense/(credit) 1 291
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (270) (621)
Tax credit for the year (269) (330)
Income tax (credit)/expense from continuing operations {269) (273)
Income tax credit from discontinued operations - (57)
Tax credit for the year (269) (330)

The tax assessed for the year is different from the standard rate of corporation tax as applied in the respective trading domains
where the Group operates. The differences are explained below:

2020 2019
$’000 $’000
Profit / (loss) before tax — continuing and discontinued 4,397 (12,223)
operations
Profit / (loss) before tax multiplied by the respective standard 835 (3,056)
rate of corporation tax applicable — 19% (2019: 25%)
Effects of:
State taxes 1 (3)
Overseas tax rates - 294
(Profit) / loss not recognised as deferred taxation (1,105) 3,056
Deferred tax credit — amortisation and impairment of intangibles - (621)
Tax credit for the year (269) (330)
Continuing (269) (273)
Discontinued - (57)
Tax credit for the year (269) (330)

For 2019, the USA corporation tax rate of 25% (including USA state tax rate) was used as the Group results include Airpush
Inc Group results for the year to 31 December 2019 and only 14 days to 31 December 2019 of Airnow PLC Group companies
in the UK and Germany. Hence, the 2019 corporation tax rate was not adjusted. In 2020, the UK Corporation tax rate of
19% was used.

The Group had losses for tax purposes of approximately USD 32.2 million as at 31 December 2020 (2019: USD 24.4 million)
which, subject to agreement with taxation authorities, are available to carry forward against future profits. They can be
carried forward indefinitely.

As the timing and extent of taxable profits are uncertain, the deferred tax asset arising on the above losses and net of
accelerated timing differences has not been recognised in the financial statements.

56



Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)

10. Discontinued operations

The management made a strategic withdrawal from anti-piracy monetisation tool business within the media segment and
certain geographical area of operations comprising of Tapcore BV, SIA Tapcore and Airpush India at 31 December 2019. The

combined results for these discontinued businesses are shown below:

2020 2019

Note $'000 $’000

Revenue 5 - 383
Cost of sales - (628)
Gross loss - (245)
Administrative expenses - (6,959)
Operating loss - (7,204)
Finance expense - (20)
Loss before tax - (7,224)
Tax credit 9 - 57
Loss on discontinued operation, net of tax - (7,167)

The discontinued business did not meet the criteria under IFRS 5 ‘Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations’ for its assets and liabilities to be classified as held for sale in the Group’s financial position as at 31 December

2019.

11. Earnings per share

2020 2019
Profit / (loss) attributable to shareholders of the Company
($'000)
- Continuing operations 4,666 (4,726)
- Discontinued operations ' - (7,167)
- Total operations 4,666 (11,893)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (‘000) 73,572 57,709
Diluted weighted average number ordinary shares (‘000) 73,808 -
Basic earnings (loss) per share (Cents):
- Continuing operations 6.3 (8.2)
- Discontinued operations - (12.4)
- Total operations 6.3 (20.6)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (Cents):
- Continuing operations 6.3 (8.2)
- Discontinued operations - (12.4)
- Total operations 6.3 (20.6)

Basic earnings / loss per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the period of the Group by the weighted average
number of ordinary share capital of Airnow PLC. Where a loss has been recorded the effect of options is not dilutive and

therefore the basic and diluted figure are the same.

For 2019, the weighted average number of shares is calculated using the number of Airnow PLC shares that were owned by

the accounting acquirer Airpush Inc pre and post the business combination on 17 December 2019.

57



Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)

12. Property, plant and equipment

Office Domain Total

GROUP equipment names

$'000 $’000 $'000
COST
At 1 January 2019 260 9 269
Additions - - -
Disposals - - -
At 31 December 2019 260 9 269
Additions 16 - 16
Disposals (260) - (260)
At 31 December 2020 16 9 25
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2019 257 9 266
Charge for period - - -
Disposals - - -
At 31 December 2019 257 9 266
Charge for period 3 - 3
Disposals (257) - (257)
At 31 December 2020 3 9 12
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2019 3 - 3
At 31 December 2020 13 - 13
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Office Total
equipment
$’000 $000

COMPANY

COoSsT

At 1 January 2019 - -
Additions - -
Disposals - -
At 31 December 2019 - -
Additions 6 6
Disposals - -
At 31 December 2020 6 6

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2019 - -
Charge for period - -
Disposals - -
At 31 December 2019 - -
Charge for period 1 1
Disposals - -
At 31 December 2019 1 1

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2019 - -
At 31 December 2020 5 5

59



Notes to the Consolidated and Company Financial Statements (continued)

13. Intangible assets

Customer
GROUP Goodwill! Tradename Technology?  Software  Relationships Total
$’000 $'000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000
COST .
At 1 January 2019 2,232 120 916 76 1,248 4,592
Additions - - 10,600 - - 10,600
Acquisitions 22,679 - 7,636 - 1,547 31,862
At 31 December 2019 24,911 120 14,152 76 2,795 47,054
Foreign exchange - - 351 - - 351
Additions - - 14,248 - 29,000 43,248
Write off due to (24,911) (120) . (76) (1,248) (26,355)
administration
At 31 December 2020 - - 33,751 - 30,547 64,298
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2019 - 33 420 75 430 958
Charge for period - 24 1,365 - 312 1,701
Impairment for period 2,232 63 191 507 2,993
At 31 December 2019 2,232 120 1,976 75 1,249 5,652
Foreign exchange - - 120 - - 120
Charge for period - - 3,845 - 2,002 5,847
Write off due to
administration (2,232) (120) - (75) (1,249) (3,676)
At 31 December 2020 - - 5,941 - 2,002 7,943
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2019 22,679 - 17,176 1 1,546 41,402
At 31 December 2020 - - 27,810 - 28,545 . 56,355

1 Goodwill written off upon administration of Airpush Inc
2Technology intangible asset is the development of proprietary software development which contributes to the Group’s

primary source of revenue.

Remaining amortisation period:
Customer relationships 4 years
Technology 2.5 years
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Intangible assets (continued)

COMPANY Technology Total

$°000 $’000
COST
At 1 January and 31
December 2019 - -
Additions 282 282
At 31 December 2020 282 282
At 1 January and 31
December 2019 ) )
Charge for period 35 35
At 31 December 2020 35 35
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2019 - -
At 31 December 2020 247 247

Amortisation charges on the Group's and parent’s intangible assets are recognised in the administrative expenses line item
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The carrying value of Goodwill per CGU was as follows:

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Airnow PLC - 22,679
- 22,679

Goodwill arising on the reverse acquisition of Airnow PLC

On 17 December 2019 Airnow PLC and Airpush Inc completed an agreement under which Airnow PLC acquired the entire
common stock of Airpush Inc in exchange for new shares in Airnow PLC. On 17 December 2019, 48,384,601 new shares of
Airnow PLC were issued to holders of common stock in Airpush Inc. Based on the reverse acquisition rules, the calculation of
the Goodwill of USD 22.7 million is related to the acquisition of Airnow PLC and this is as detailed in Note 27.

Reversal of the Goodwill arising on the reverse acquisition of Airnow PLC
On 17 November 2020 the accounting acquirer Airpush Inc was placed into administration and the legal parent Airnow PLC

purchased from the administrator of Airpush Inc certain assets to continue the trade. The Goodwill on consolidation of USD
22.7 million that arose in the 2019 financial statements has been fully impaired in the 2020 financial statements.
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Other Intangible Assets during the year to 31 December 2020

Repurchase of Assets from the Administration of Airpush Inc

On 17 November 2020 the accounting acquirer Airpush Inc was placed into administration and the legal parent Airnow PLC
purchased from the administrator of Airpush Inc certain assets to continue the trade. Included within Technology intangibles
is USDS 10.2m in respect of intellectual property purchased from the administrator.

Purchase of Assets from Avantis Team Technologies
Airnow Video a subsidiary of Airnow PLC has recognised intangibles of USD 31.4m on the purchase of certain assets from
Avantis, USD 29.0m in respect of customer relationships and USD 2.4m in respect of Technology. The acquisition is described

in Note 25.

Transfer of ReachAds Intangible
The ReachAds technology intangible described in Note 25 was transferred from Airpush Inc to Airpush Hong Kong prior to the

administration of Airpush Inc.

Impairment review

The Technology and Customer relationships intangibles were reviewed for impairment as at 31 December 2020. These
impairment tests were based upon future cash flow forecasts for the cash generating unit (CGU) holding the intangibles and
these forecasts were based upon management judgement. Management concluded no impairment was required.

In order to evaluate the recoverable amount of each intangible within a CGU based on value in use, the following key
information should be noted.

* The recoverable amounts have been determined using the cashflow forecast from its most recent financial plans projected
for a five-year period and then extrapolated into perpetuity, with a discount rate applied.

¢ The financial plans have been prepared at the cash generating unit level based on historical trends adjusted for expected
events. Projected adjusted revenue for each CGU is expresséd as the compound annual growth rates (CAGR) in the initial
five years of the forecasts used for impairment testing. This methodology places strong emphasis on early year cash flows
and revenue growth assumptions in evaluating impairment.

e The revenue growth started with a high revenue growth in year 1 {Year 2021) based on management projections and
followed by the use of CAGR in subsequent years (Year 2022-2025) with gradual tapered revenue growth to reach 2% in the
terminal period.

* The post adjusted discount rate is based on an adjusted weighted average cost of capital (WACC) of 17.9%.
¢ The perpetual growth rate reflects the maturity, penetration and profile of the cash generating units with 2% applied for
each CGU.

Value in Use assumptions

The table below shows key assumptions used in the value in use calculations for each of the cash generating
units (CGU):

Airnow Abilott Appscatter Airnow

Media Limited Limited Data

Post-tax adjusted discount rate 17.9% 17.9% 17.9% 27.9%
Projected adjusted revenue — CAGR 15.8% 31.4% 15% 44%
Long-term growth rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
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14. Subsidiaries

The principal subsidiaries of Airnow PLC, all of which have been included in the consolidated financial statements, are as
follows:

CountrY of Parent Ownership interest Nature of business
Incorporation at 31 Dec 2020
appScatter Limited UK Airnow PLC 100% Software Development
appScatter LLC (Delaware) 2 us appscatter 100% Software Development
Limited
Abilott Limited * UK Airnow PLC 100% Digital security solutions
Airnow Data Limited * UK Airnow PLC 100% Saas platform for mobile
Priori Data GmbH 3 Germany Airnow PLC 100%  SaaS platform for mobile
Airnow Media Limited ! UK Airnow PLC 100% Digital advertising
Airnow Media LLC* us Airnow PLC 100% Digital advertising
Airnow Video Limited ° Israel Airnow PLC 100% Digital advertising
Airpush Hong Kong Co., Ltd © Hong Kong Airpush PLC 100% Digital advertising
Zhenli (Shanghai) Information Airpush Hong
and Technology Limited 7 P.R. of China Kong Co., Ltd 100% Digital advertising
DSH Labs LLC (Delaware) 2 us appScatter 100% Software Development
Limited
Subsidiaries of Airnow PLC in administration at 31 December 2020
Airpush inc. us Airnow PLC 100% Digital advertising
Airpush India Holdings, Inc uUs Airpush Inc. 100% Dormant
Airpush India PVT* India See note below 100% Digital advertising
Tapcore BV Netherlands Airpush Inc. 100% Digital advertising
SIA Tapcore** Latvia See note below 100% Digital advertising

1 Salisbury House, London Wall, London, England, EC2M 5PS

29 East Lookerman St STE 202, Dover, Kent, DE, 19901 USA

3 Techspace Kreuzberg, Lobeckstrasse 36-40, Berlin, 10969, Germany

4 Harvard Business Services, Inc 16192 Coastal Highway, Delaware, 19958
5132 Begin Road, Tel Aviv Jaffa, 6701101, Israel.

S Flat 01B3, 10/F Carnival Comm, Bldg 18, Java Rd North Point. Hong Kong
7 B2104, Lee Kum Kee Building, 970 Nanning Road, Xuhui, Shanghai, China

On 17 December 2019 upon the reverse acquisition of Airnow PLC, Airnow PLC acquired the common stock of Airpush Inc and
recorded a new investment in its legal subsidiary Airpush Inc.

*0.01% of Airpush India PVT owned by Airpush India Holdings, Inc and the remainder by Airpush Inc.
**10% of SIA Tapcore is owned by Tapcore BV and the remainder by Airpush Inc.

Investment movements 2020 2019
$’000 $'000

Opening balance 61,773 19,263
Acquisitions 6,746 -
Acquisition of Airpush Inc - 97,142
Return of Shares - {(11,728) -
Impairment during the year 11,728 (55,469)
Airpush Inc into administration (41,673) -
Share consideration - Avantis 2,718 -
Foreign exchange (106) 837
Closing balance 29,458 61,773
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Airpush Inc Administration

On 17 November 2020 the accounting acquirer Airpush Inc was placed into administration and the legal parent Airnow PLC
purchased from the administrator of Airpush Inc certain assets to continue the trade. The Group consolidated financial
statements contain profit or loss of Airpush Inc. to the date of administration.

Return of Shares

Airnow PLC negotiated a return of certain shares that were issued to shareholders of Airpush Inc on 17 December 2019. These
shares will be held for the benefit of Airnow PLC. The value of these shares is shown as a receivable to the consolidated and
company’s statement of financial position {Note 16) and a credit to the consolidated and company’s statement of
comprehensive income (Note 6) being a part reversal of the 2019 impairment of the carrying value of investment in Airpush
Inc. The value of shares is denominated in Sterling and converted to USD using year end and average exchange rate.

Impairment

At each reporting year end, the carrying value of each investment in a subsidiary is tested for impairment to assess whether
the value of the investment carried at no more than its recoverable amount. When carrying out impairment tests these would
be based upon future cash flow forecasts for the cash generating unit of each investment and these forecasts would be based
upon management judgement.

In order to evaluate the recoverable amount of each CGU based on value in use, the following key information should be
noted.

* The recoverable amounts have been determined using the cashflow forecast from its most recent financial plans projected
for a five-year period and then extrapolated into perpetuity, with a discount rate applied.

¢ The financial plans have been prepared at the cash generating unit level based on historical trends adjusted for expected
events. Projected adjusted revenue for each CGU is expressed as the compound annual growth rates (CAGR) in the initial
five years of the forecasts used for impairment testing. This methodology places strong emphasis on early year cash flows
and revenue growth assumptions in evaluating impairment.

e The revenue growth started with a high revenue growth in year 1 (Year 2021) based on management projections and
followed by the use of CAGR in subsequent years (Year 2022-2025) with gradual tapered revenue growth to reach 2% in the
terminal period.

¢ The post adjusted discount rate is based on an adjusted weighted average cost of capital (WACC) of 17.9%.

* The perpetual growth rate reflects the maturity, penetration and profile of the cash generating units with 2% applied for
each CGU.

Value in Use assumptions

The table below shows key assumptions used in the value in use calculations for each of the cash generating units (CGU):

Airnow Abilott appScatter

Media Limited Limiteg Ao Data
Post-tax adjusted discount rate 17.9% 17.9% 17.9% 27.9%
Projected adjusted revenue — CAGR 15.8% 31.4% 15% 44%
Long-term growth rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Management considered a change in the key revenue assumption while leaving all other assumptions unchanged. This
would cause the impairment of the carrying amount to change as follows:
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Airnow Abilott appScatter Airnow

Media Limited Limited Data

Projected adjusted revenue CAGR reduced by: 10% 10% 10% 10%
Impairment of carrying value: $10.1m $1.1m S- $7.1m

The Directors carried out an impairment review of the carrying value of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 and the
amount charged was USD nil (2019: USD 55.5m).

Net amounts due from subsidiaries
The amounts have no fixed repayment terms and are repayable on demand. Management assess recoverability within
investment impairment testing. At 31 December 2020, management concluded all amounts due from subsidiaries are

recoverable.

15. Investments in associates

The following entity is an associate of the Airnow Group and has been treated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method:

Country of Ownership interest
Parent Nature of business
Incorporation at 31 Dec 2020 Y us!
Airnow Cybersecurity Ltd UK Airnow PLC 50% Digital security solutions

Airnow Cybersecurity Ltd (formally Abilott Sales Ltd) was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 9 January 2019. The primary
business of Airnow Cybersecurity Ltd is digital security solution provision, which is in line with the Group's digital provision
strategy. The Group holds a 50% interest in the Company and which the Group has determined it has the power to exercise
significant influence but has no control over it, and as such the investment in Airnow Cybersecurity is accounted for using
equity method of accounting.

The profit or loss for this Company for the period between 17 December 2019 (date of business combination with Airpush
Inc) and 31 December 2019 was immaterial and therefore was not included in 2019 the financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, Airnow Cybersecurity made a loss of USD 0.028 million, and had net liabilities of USD
0.106 miilion. The Company has no legal or constructive obligation to make payments on behalf of Airnow Cybersecurity, and
as such under IAS 28, the losses are not included in the consolidated financial statements. For 2019 and 2020 combined the
50% share of the losses was USD 0.053 million.

Group and Company

2020 2019
As at 31 December $’000 $’000
Opening balance - -
Acquisition of investment in associate! - -
Closing balance - -

1 Airnow PLC investment in Airnow Cybersecurity Limited amounts to GBP 50. The basis of disclosure in $’000’s excludes the
presentation of this amount in both Group and Company.
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Investments in associates (continued)

Group and Company: Summarised financial information

As at 31 December

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net liabilities (100%)

Share of net liabilities (50%) not recognised

Period ended 31 December

Revenues

Loss from continuing operations (100%)
Share of net losses (50%) not recognised
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2020
$'000

2019
$’000

228

(267)
(68)
(106)
(53)
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(106)
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16. Trade and other receivables

The Group and Company apply the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime expected
credit loss provision for trade receivables.

The expected loss rates are based on historical credit losses experienced over the three-year period prior to the period end.
The historical loss rates are then adjusted for current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the Group’s customers. The Group has identified the gross domestic product (GDP), unemployment rate and inflation rate as
the key macroeconomic factors in the markets where the Group operates.

Trade and other receivables have not been discounted as they are short-term debts.

GROUP 2020 2019
$'000 $’000
Trade receivables — gross 13,206 1,352
Less: provision for impairment (86) (75)
Trade receivable — net 13,120 1,277
Prepayments and accrued income 728 570
Other receivables 13,290 594
Total trade and other receivables 27,138 2,441
2020 2019
$’000 $'000
Not past due, not impaired 12,267 812
Past due but not impaired:
Up to 30 days 556 174
31 to 60 days 140 143
61 to 90 days 33 81
Over 90 days 210 95
939 493
Past due but impaired - more than 90 days - 47
Less: Impairment provision (86) (75)
Net trade receivables ' 13,120 1,277
Not past due and not impaired 12,267 812
Past due but not impaired 939 493
Past due and fully impaired - 47
Gross trade receivables 13,206 1,352

Provision for impairment

Opening balance 75 246
(Decrease)/increase during the period 11 (171)
Closing balance 86 75
Specific provision - 48
Expected loss provision 86 27
Total provision 86 75
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Factoring

The following amounts of trade receivables were held under a factoring arrangement:

2020 2019
$’000 $’000
- 2,579
The use of factoring has not led to derecognition of the underlying trade receivable.
COMPANY
The Company does not carry any trade receivables.
2020 2019
$'000 $’000
Prepayments 87 25
Other taxes receivable 417 207
Other receivables 11,736 -
Total trade and other receivables 12,240 232

Airnow PLC negotiated a return of certain shares that were issued to shareholders of Airpush Inc on 17 December 2019. These
shares will be held for the benefit of Airnow PLC. The value of these shares is shown as a receivable to the consolidated and
company’s statement of financial position and a credit to the consolidated and company’s statement of comprehensive
income (Note 6) being a part reversal of the 2019 impairment of the carrying value of investment in Airpush Inc. The value of
shares is denominated in Sterling and converted to USD using year end exchange rates.

17. Cash and equivalents

GROUP 2020 2019

$'000 $'000
Cash at bank available on demand 1,549 418
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,549 418
COMPANY 2020 2019

$’000 $’000
Cash at bank available on demand 1,280 1
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,280 1
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18. Trade and other payables

GROUP 2020 2019
Due within one year $'000 $’000
Trade payables 13,779 11,177
Other taxes and social security : 1,276 1,279
Other payables 23,557 1,920
Accruals 7,203 4,182
Deferred income 239 899
Total trade and other payables 46,054 19,457
COMPANY 2020 2019
Due within one year $’000 $’000
Trade payables 3,724 2,079
Other taxes and social security 21 84
Other payables 4 1,310
Accruals 1,336 1,270
Total trade and other payables 5,085 4,743
GROUP 2020 2019
Due after one year $’000 $'000
Other payables 963 -
Other payables 963 -
19. Leases

Property, plant and equipment comprises owned assets. The Group has no right-of-use assets
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20. Loans and borrowings

GROUP GROUP COMPANY COMPANY
2020 2019 2020 2019
$’000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Current
Loan facility — secured 2,371 936 2,266 377
Factoring - 550 - -
Total current loans 2,371 1,486 2,266 377
Non-current
Loan facility - secured 2,744 1,328 2,744 1,226
Convertible shareholder loan note 2,500 2,500 2,500 -
Total non-current loans 5,244 3,828 5,244 1,226
Total loans and borrowings ' 7,615 5,314 7,510 1,603

Loan facility - secured

The Harbert European Speciality Lending Company |l Sarl loan and Funding Circle loan are secured by either fixed or floating
charges over the assets of Airnow PLC Group (excluding Airpush Group). The Harbert loan of EUR 5.0 million is denominated
in Euro. Interest on the loans are fixed rates between 7.5% to 20%.

Convertible shareholder loan note

On 30 December 2018 Airpush Inc entered into a further agreement extending the USD 2.5 million convertible promissory
note with Gogoplata Ventures LLC to 30 December 2023 at an annual interest rate of 20%. Upon the purchase of Airpush Inc
by Airnow PLC the terms were changed to subordinate the loan so the Harbert Loan had priority and payment on interest was
limited to USD 0.015 million per month. On the Administration of Airpush Inc, the loan was acquired by Airnow PLC it was
agreed to recognise this as a liability with no interest or principal repayable until listing. The value is shown within non-current
loans.

Factoring

A facility agreement of USD 0.55 million was put in place between Airpush Inc and Triple Dragon Limited in 2019. The facility
was secured over all receivables of Airpush Inc and the interest rate was 2.25% per calendar month. Amounts due under the
factoring liability were repaid before the administration of Airpush Inc on 17 November 2020 (Note 27).
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Loans and borrowings (continued)

Analysis of net debt

GROUP Secured  Convertible Loan Factoring Total Cash and Net
Bank loan note notes - debt cash debt
loans equivalent
$’000 $'000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 $’000

1Jan 2019 (304) (2,500) (160) (123) (3,087) 279 (2,808)

Acquisition of Airnow PLC (2,264) - - - (2,264) 35 (2,229)

Cashflows 304 - 160 (427) 37 104 141

31 Dec 2019 (2,264) (2,500} - (550) (5,314) 418 (4,896)

Airpush Inc in administration - - - 550 550 - 550

Cashflows (3,007) - - - (3,007) 385 (2,622)

Currency 156 - - - 156 746 902

31 Dec 2020 (5,115) (2,500) - - (7,615) 1,549 (6,066)

COMPANY Secured Convertible Factoring Total Cash and Net

Bank loan note debt cash debt
loans equivalent
$'000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $’000 $'000

1Jan 2019 - - (123) (123) 15 (108)

Cashflows (1,603) - 123 (1,480) (14) (1,494)

31 Dec 2019 (1,603) - - (1,603) 1 (1,602)

Airpush Inc in administration - (2,500) - (2,500) - (2,500)

Cashflows (3,563) - - (3,563) 1,279 (2,284)

Currency 156 - - 156 - 156

31 Dec 2020 {5,010} (2,500) - (7,510} 1,280 (6,230)
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21. Deferred tax

2020 2019
$’000 $’000
Intangible assets 2,160 2,430
At 31 December 2,160 2,430
Movement on the deferred tax balance
2020 2019
$'000 $’000
At 1 January 2,430 351
Credited to profit or loss — continuing operations (270) (270)
Credited to profit or loss — discontinued operations - (351)
Arising on the acquisition of assets from GMobi - 2,700
At 31 December 2,160 2,430

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets arising from the accumulated tax losses due to uncertainty of their future
recovery.
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22. Share based payments

COMPANY AND GROUP

Share options
The Group uses share options as remuneration for services of employees. The fair value is expensed over the remaining vesting
period. The previous share option scheme was cancelled on 31 December 2019 and there was no new scheme in operation

throughout 2020.
Airpush Inc - SAR Awards

On 17 December 2019 Airnow PLC acquired the entire common stock of Airpush Inc. As part of the transaction, the option,
stock appreciation right (“SAR”), and warrant holders of Airpush Inc agreed for their options, SAR awards and warrants to be
cancelled in exchange for new shares or new share options in Airnow PLC.

The 647,827 SARs at 31 December 2019 were cancelled to be replaced with Airnow PLC shares. Of these, the recipients
relating to 343,390 SARs did not respond and as such the respective agreements terminated; 8,091 shares relating to 4,437
SARs were issued in March 2020; and the remaining 300,000 SARs were converted into options for 805,712 shares as part of
consideration of the Airpush restructure agreement.

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019
Weighted  Weighted Weighted ~ Weighted
contractual contractual
SARs average remaining SAR overage remaining
exercise exercise
price life price life
No. S years No. $ years
Outstanding at the beginning of the
period 647,827 3.10 6.33 1,240,204 2.77 7.21
Cancelled and replaced with Airnow
PLC shares (647,827) - - - - -
Forfeited during the period - - - (592,377) (1.44) -
Outstanding at the end of the period - - - 647,827 3.10 6.33
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Share based payments (continued)

Airnow PLC — Share options and warrants

2020 2020 2020 2019 2019 2019
Options Weighted Weighted  Options and Weighted Weighted
and average contractual warrants average contractual
warrants exercise remaining exercise remaining
price life price life
No. £/(3) Years No. £/(S) Years
Outstanding at the beginning of
the period 70,156 0.64(50.8) - 6,216,477 0.68(50.9) 9.0
Cancelled - - - (2,143,738) 0.56($0.7) -
Forfeited during the period - - - (4,002,583) 0.61($0.8) -
Outstanding at the end of the 70,156 0.64($0.8) - 70,156 0.64($0.8) 5.0
period
Exercisable at the end of the
period 70,156 0.64($0.8) - 70,156 0.64(50.8) -

Shortly after incorporation in April 2017, Airnow PLC established an employee share option plan to enable the issue of options
as part of the remuneration of Directors and employees to enable them to purchase ordinary shares in the Company. Under
IFRS 2 “Share-based Payments”, the Company determines the fair value of the options issued to Directors and employees as
remuneration and recognises the amount as an expense in the profit or loss with a corresponding increase in equity.

The employee share option scheme was cancelled as at 31 December 2019.
Warrants

On 21 August 2017 the Company granted to Ruffena Capital Limited warrants to subscribe for up to 70,156 new Ordinary
Shares at £0.644 ($0.8) per Ordinary Share. These warrants expire in tranches on a range of dates between 24 August 2023
and 4 May 2024 and were issued by way of replacement of a warrant of equivalent value and duration granted on 26 July
2017 which had entitled Ruffena Capital Limited to subscribe for up to 28,060 ordinary shares in appScatter Limited at £1.61
($2.1) per appScatter Limited share.

There were 70,156 warrant options outstanding at 31 December 2020 (2019: 70,156). The weighted average share price (at
the date of exercise) of warrant options exercised during the year and prior year was USD nil as no options were exercised.

No new share options were issued in 2020 (2019: none).

The share based payment credit of USD 0.042 million recognised in the income statement relates to cancellation of the
employee share option scheme (2019: USD 0.03 million in relation to share option expense).
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23. Share capital
Airnow PLC's issued and fully paid share capital is summarised in the table below:

Ordinary shares of £0.05 each Deferred shares of £0.04 each

Number  Nominal value Number Nominal value
$'000 $'000
At 1January 2019 91,016,157 5,916 - -
Shares issued before share split and consolidation 6,033,732 386 - -
Shares before re-structuring 97,049,889 6,302
Shares cancelled and sub-divided (97,049,889) (6,302) 97,049,889 5,180
New shares consolidated? 19,409,978 1,122 . - -
Shares issued - acquisition of Airpush Inc? 48,384,601 3,179 - -
At 31 December 2019 67,794,579 4,301 97,049,889 5,180
Shares issued for cash at £1.34 7,675,809 488 - -
Shares issued for cash at £1.50 516,684 35 - -
Sha.re‘es‘ issued to settle trade and other payable 3 361,680 208 i i
liabilities at £1.34 e
At 31 December 2020 79,348,752 5,032 97,049,889 5,180

On 31 December 2020, the issued and fully paid shares of Airnow PLC consisted of ordinary shares each with a nominal value
of £0.05.

The Ordinary shares carry rights to dividends and voting. The shares are not redeemable.

The Deferred shares carry no rights to dividends nor voting. On the winding up, shareholders are entitled to a maximum
aggregate payment of £1, following repayment of the paid-up share capital. The Company may purchase all the deferred
shares at any time for the aggregate payment of £1.

10n 13 December 2019, the ordinary shares at nominal value of £0.05 were subdivided into ordinary shares at £0.01 each
and deferred shares at £0.04 each. The new ordinary shares £0.01 each was then consolidated in a ratio of 5:1 to 1 new shares
at £0.05 each.

20n 17 December 2019 shares were issued for part of the consideration for the acquisition of Airpush Inc and its subsidiaries.
The Administrator Held Shares reserve represents the equity held by a subsidiary (Airpush Inc) in the legal parent (Airnow

PLC). The shares have a nominal value of £0.05 ($0.07) and their nominal value amounts to USD 13,187 from 149,254 shares.
These shares were purchased prior to the purchase of Airpush Inc by Airnow PLC.
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24. Reserves

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity:

Share Capital

Share Premium

Deferred Shares

Shares to be issued

Administrator Held Shares reserve

Merger reserve

Reverse Acquisition reserve

Share-based payment reserve

Foreign exchange reserve

Retained earnings

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The nominal value of shares is included
in share capital

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of the nominal value less any
related expenses.

Ordinary deferred shares are classified as equity. The nominal value of shares is
included in deferred share capital.

Amount subscribed for share capital that has been committed to but not yet
issued at agreed issue price.

The equity held by a subsidiary (Aiprush Inc) in the legal parent (Airnow PLC).

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value when shares are
issued in exchange for at least a 90% interest in the shares of another company.

Additional amounts contributed by the shareholders to the business and
including effect on equity of the reverse acquisition of Airnow PLC.

Value of share options granted and calculated with reference to Black Scholes
model. When options lapse or are exercised, amounts are transferred from this
account to retained earnings.

Foreign exchange translation gains and losses arising on the translation of the
financial statements from the functional to the presentation currency.

Retained earnings represents all other net gains and losses and transactions with
shareholders (e.g. dividends) not recognised elsewhere.
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25. Business combinations

Acquisition of assets from Avantis Team Technologies Limited

On 19 August 2020 Airnow PLC agreed to purchase from Avantis certain assets including contracts, licenses and intellectual
property with the primary purpose of expanding the mobile video offering to customers.

in October 2020, the Group through its wholly owned subsidiary Airnow Video Ltd., completed the acquisition of certain assets
from Avantis for a consideration of USD 10 million {of which USD 8.75 million was payable in cash and USD 1.25 million was

payable in shares).

In December 2020 the agreement was amended to include additional earnout payments and as further consideration, Avantis
was granted warrants to subscribe for shares in Airnow PLC, 2.25 million warrants at an exercise price of £0.8 per share and
0.75 million warrants at a discount of 15% to the applicable share price, exercisable at any time within 24 months of the date
of grant of such warrants.

Amendments to the purchase were as follows:

1. 23 August 2020 {Amendment No.1) (the Original Agreement}
2. 9 September 2020 (Amendment No.2)
3. 1 December 2020 (Amendment No. 3)

Details of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and purchase consideration as per the December 2020
amendment are as follows:

Book value of Fair value Fair value of

assets acquired adjustments  assets acquired

$’000 $’000 $’000

Developed technology - 2,386,359 2,386,359
Customer Relationships - 29,000,000 29,000,000
Net assets - 31,386,359 31,386,359

These intangible assets are shown in Note 13 at their fair value after amortisation for 2020.

The Company made an initial investment of USD 4.25 million to purchase the assets and discounted future consideration
payable from 2021 until 2023 together with the cost of warrants issued and fees is included within the fair value of USD 31.4
million.

The future consideration payable from 2021 until 2023 has been discounted at the cost of capital for the transaction. The
warrants were valued using a Black Scholes model.

The breakdown of the fair value is as follows:

usD
Consideration 27,476,986
Warrants 2,072,123
Fees 1,837,250
Total 31,386,359
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Business combinations (continued) ;

On 6 April 2021 The Group and Avantis entered into a new agreement, terminating the Original Agreement and subsequent
amendments, under which Avantis reacquired the assets from Airnow PLC for a nominal consideration.

Included within the consolidated financial position of Airnow PLC as at 31 December 2020 are trade receivables of USD 12.5
million and trade payables of USD 6.3 million relating to revenues and cost of sales relating to the assets. Avantis reacquired
the assets.

As at 31 December, the control over these assets were held by Airnow PLC, and it was management intention to comply with
the December 2020 purchase agreement. On this basis, and in accordance with IAS 10, management assessed this event as a
non-adjusting post balance sheet event.

26. Group restructuring

The Airnow PLC Group carried out a restructuring in 2020 as follows:

a)
b)

<)

d)

Ownership of the ReachAds intangible was transferred from Airpush Inc to Airpush Hong Kong.

The ownership of Airpush Hong Kong and Zhenli (Shanghai) was transferred from Airpush Inc to Airnow PLC on 29
September 2020 for a consideration of USD 0.01 million.

On 17 November 2020 Airpush Inc was placed into administration. On the same date, Airnow PLC purchased from
the administrators of Airpush Inc and its subsidiaries, certain assets and intellectual property and then transferred
these to Airnow Media Ltd (formerly Airnow Monetisation Limited) for a consideration of GBP 0.45 million (USD 0.6
million). Airnow PLC assumed certain liabilities of USD 6.6 million from Airpush Inc and intercompany balances of
USD 2.8 million due to Airnow PLC and its subsidiaries were forgiven. The control of Tapcore BV, SIA Tapcore and
Airpush India, subsidiaries of Airpush Inc, passed to the administrator and the entities have ceased trading.

The effective consideration for the purchase of the assets of USD 10.2 million has been treated as an intangible
asset and shown within Note 13.

Management assessed the transaction to be an asset purchase rather than a business combination based on the
result of the concentration test under IFRS. This is based on the amount of fair value of the transaction being
substantially concentrated in a single identifiable asset: intellectual property. Intellectual property is identified as a
separate class: “Technology” within intangible assets in Note 13.

Airnow Data Ltd purchased the business of Priori Data Gmbh on 12 August 2020 and started trading on 13 August
2020. The assumed liabilities were EUR 1.3 million. Airnow Data Ltd paid no consideration for the business. These
entities are under common control and in the consolidated financial statements the intangible assets that were
identified under the reverse acquisition see Note 27 remain and have been amortised as shown in Note 13.
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27. Reverse Acquisition of Airnow PLC

On 17 December 2019 Airnow PLC and Airpush Inc agreed an acquisition whereby Airnow PLC issued shares in exchange for
the entire issued stock of Airpush Inc. The Airnow PLC shares issued to the holders of Airpush Inc stock led to Airpush Inc
stockholders owning 75.4% of the combined entity equity and therefore the merger has been accounted for as a reverse
acquisition with Airpush Inc being the accounting acquirer. Airnow PLC is the legal acquirer.

Details of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, purchase consideration and Goodwill were as follows:

Book value of Fair value Fair value of

assets adjustments assets

acquired acquired
$'000 $'000 $'000
Goodwill 2,776 (2,776) -
Developed technology 10,428 (2,792) 7,636
Customer relationships - 1,547 1,547
Cash and cash equivalents 35 - 35
Trade and other receivables 974 - 974
Loans and Borrowings (2,264) - (2,264)
Trade and other payables (8,294) - (8,294)

Net assets 3,655 (4,021) (366)
Goodwill 22,679
Total purchase consideration 22,313
Shares -
Total purchase consideration 22,313
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 35

Cash inflow on acquisition {net of cash acquired) within

investing activities 35
Loans and borrowings acquired within net debt (2,264)
Net debt consideration (2,229)

The main factors leading to the recognition of Goodwill are new customers (in both existing and new territories) of the Group
that will support future revenues, enhancements or improvements to the existing technology assets to support and drive
future revenues, the highly skilled assembled workforce which do not qualify for separate recognition under IAS 38 and an
amount that is required for general operational purposes.
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Reversal of Reverse Acquisition

On 17 November 2020 the accounting acquirer Airpush Inc was placed into administration and the legal parent Airnow PLC
purchased from the administrator of Airpush Inc certain assets to continue the trade of Airpush Inc.

In order to reflect these events the following steps were taken and are reflected in the statement of changes in equity;

a) The investment of USD 41.6m in Airpush Inc within Airnow PLC was written down to USD nil. USD 27.4 million of the
write-down has been debited to the merger reserve in Airnow PLC and the balance of USD 14.2 million has been
debited to the profit and loss.

b) In the consolidated statement of changes in equity the reverse acquisition reserve of USD 82.8 million arose on
reverse acquisition of Airpush Inc. has been reversed. This reversal includes the goodwill on consolidation recorded
in the 2019 accounts of USD 22.7 million.

c) USD 70.6 million of the merger reserve has been reversed. The balance at 31 December 2020 represents the merger
reserve at the Company level relating to Priori Data Gmbh, Abilott Limited, and Appscatter Limited.

d) USD 6.3 million has been transferred out of shares to be issued reflecting that shares will not be issued as a result of
the Airpush Inc administration.

28. Commitments

There are no capital commitments as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019 USD nil).

29. Related party transactions

GROUP
During the year Airnow Group companies entered into the following transactions with related parties who are not members
of the Airnow Group:

On 30 December 2018 the Group entered into an agreement with Gogoplata Ventures LLC to extend the repayment date of
the convertible promissory note with an outstanding amount of USD 2.5 million until 30 December 2023. This is disclosed in
Note 20 to the financial statements.

Members of the Group trade with each other under normal market conditions and fees are charged by the Company for
management services it provides to its subsidiaries.

The amounts due to the Directors at 31 December 2020 as disclosed in the table below are included in Note 18. Under the
reverse acquisition accounting, only a proportion of the transactions amounts listed in the Company’s table below relating to
the period between 17 December 2019 and 31 December 2019 were included in the Group’s results in 2019.
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COMPANY

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 8(k) of FRS101 not to disclose transactions with its
subsidiaries and paragraph 17 of I1AS 24, ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose key management personnel. There are no
other related party transactions other than those relating to Directors and the Gogoplata Loan that have been disclosed in

the table below.

Transactions with Directors as listed in the table below are included in the Company results and the amounts due to them
(except for Culmore Limited included in Appscatter Limited) are included in Note 18.

Related party Type 2020 2020 2019 2019
$'000 $'000 . $’000 $'000
Transactions Transactions

include in include in Balance

$’000 Company’s results  Balance due Company’s results due
Philip Marcella? Fees - - - (25)
MG IT Services? Fees 350 (275) 287 (74)
Clive Carver? Fees 185 (23) 57 (59)
Culmore Limited?® Service provision 57 (8) - (60)
Goodwick Services Ltd* Service provision 19 (50) 67 (20)
Tron Lake LLC? Service provision 107 (20) - -
Gogoplata Ventures LLC®  Convertible loan - (2,500) - (2,500)
Total 718 (2,876) 411 (2,738)

Notes

1. Philip Marcella is a director of Airnow PLC and has an interest in MG IT Services. Amounts paid to MG IT services
relate to management fees for a subsidiary within the Airnow group.

2. Clive Carver is executive chairman and chief financial officer of Airnow PLC.

3. Colin Hutchinson was a director of Airnow PLC from 17 December 2019 and resigned 24 September 2020. Mr
Hutchinson has an interest in Culmore Limited. The fees were related to provision of accounting services and were
included in AppScatter Limited.

4. Jason Hill was a director of Airnow PLC, resigning 6 March 2020. Mr Hill had an interest in Goodwick Services Ltd and
the fees were related to consultancy services provided to Airnow Group up until resignation. Goodwick Services
continued to provide consultancy services after this date.

5. Inman Breaux is a director of Airnow PLC and has an interest in Tron Lake LLC. The amount paid to Tron Lake LLC
relates to marketing services and are included in the Airnow Media LLC.

6. Gogoplata Ventures LLC is controlled by a significant shareholder of Airnow PLC.

With the exception of the Gogoplata loan, which is interest bearing, the amounts due from/(to) for the above parties are non-
interest-bearing balances and included under trade and other receivables and trade and other payables notes. Details of key
management personnel compensation are given in Note 7.

The Group and company do not have an ultimate controlling party.
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30. Events after the balance sheet date
Goldbeck Loan

On 5 April 2021, The Company entered into a short term borrowing facility with Jan-Hendrik Goldbeck for the purposes of
providing working capital financing to the Company. The loan was for the amount of USD 7.0 million which was all drawn
down. The maturity date of the loan is 1 September 2022.

Harbert Loan

In May 2021, the Company was advised that the Harbert facility would be repayable, this facility is shown in Note 20. The
repayment was agreed to be in three equal monthly instalments of EUR 1.18 million, the first of which was paid on 26 May
2021 and the final instaiment on 30 July 2021.

Issue of Shares

Following the year end Airnow PLC issued 10.8 million new £0.05 ordinary shares for cash consideration after expenses of
USD 13.8 million. The Company also issued 2.8 million shares to settle trade liabilities of USD 3.9 million.

Mighty Signal Inc

On 4 June 2021 Airnow PLC signed an agreement to acquire 100% of the shares in Mighty Signal Inc a US firm providing insights
into the mobile ecosystem. The purchase consideration was USD 4.5 million, USD 0.5 million in cash and USD 4.0 million in
shares. The number of shares being determined by a price of £1.65 per share unless the listing price is different when the
number of shares will be adjusted to give not less than USD 4.0 million.

Repurchase of Assets by Avantis
On 19 August 2020, Airnow PLC agreed to purchase from Avantis certain assets as set out in note 25 (“Original Agreement”).

On 6 April 2021 Airnow PLC and Avantis entered into a further agreement and terminated the Original Agreement as amended.
Avantis reacquired the assets from Airnow PLC for a nominal consideration.

Management assessed this event and concluded that it is non-adjusting post balance sheet event. The rationale for this
assessment was that the Original Agreement conditions had been met and the acquisition had completed with the Group
having control of the assets acquired and at 31 December 2020 the clear intention of the Group was to continue to operate
under the Original Agreement as revised by a further agreement dated 1 December 2020.
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